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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

SEC

APR 2Uu

Operating Results In thousands except noted

Net Sales $973700 $869025 $710607 $616068 $505554

Net Income

Financial Position

63128 56797 39588 28094 19053

Total Assets

Working Capital

Long-term debt less current maturities

Shareholders equity

$612812 $542570 $421863 $346583 $324818

251263 204839 178148 137981 106489

25857

439226 376589 296166 242742 191256

ASTEC
INDUSTRIES INC

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Per Common Share

Net Income

Basic $2.83 $2.59 $1.85 $1.38 $0.96

Diluted 2.80 2.53 1.81 1.34 0.95

Book value per common share at year end 19.45 16.78 13.51 11.57 9.52

Other Data

Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding

Basic 22288 21968 21429 20334 19741

Diluted 22586 22445 21917 20977 20079

Associates 3973 3886 3214 2946 2657

Listed on NASDAQ as ASTE

008 Annual Report
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Teismith Inc

Mequon Wisconsin

KoIbergPioneer Inc

Yankton South Dakota

Johnson Crushers International Inc

Eugene Oregon

Breaker Technology Ltd
Thornbury Ontario Canada

Breaker Technology
Solon Ohio

Riverside California

Astec Mobile Screens

Sterling Illinios

Osborn Engineered
Products SA Pty Ltd

Johannesburg South Africa

Astec Inc

Chattanooga Tennessee

Dillman Equipment
division of Astec Inc

Prairie du Chien Wisconsin

Heatec Inc

Chattanooga Tennessee

CEI Enterprises Inc

Albuquerque New Mexico

Roadtec Inc

Chattanooga Tennessee

Inc

Carison Paving Products Inc

Tacoma Washington

Astec Underground Inc

Loudon Tennessee

American Augers Inc
West Salem Ohio

Peterson Pacific Corp
Eugene Oregon

Astec Australia Pty Ltd

Sumner Park Australia
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tec dj qupment tush oces es and convert ala rals to other oducts Pu niate may be used

pave roads to pratuct aaainst osm Latep Astec ndust ie equipment ecyclcs and converts nariv ti es
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We do not we rnakr the equiprient to crush pock

We not 00 we make the cqu pment to budd roads

ot drdl go VfC we make the equipmcnt to drH gas and weUs

We do not ds we mak the eowpment to rcyclc roads
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Teismith Inc0

Mequon Wsconsin

krnith Inc fou ci 906 cs ci vs the age egate

and mining ndu tries cc ovei 00 years or term

nmitment to ethcal business pi tice echnolagically

oclean ed pi oducts voi Id cas cuppoi and manufactui

ng excells nec has led to trong brand recognition foi Tel

th pioducts in nioi kets around the ftoi Id

Today TeRre ith designs and manufactures pi ocessirig

equipment Gr tee eduction and sizing of row nats

ols Industi is sei ved clude nrning foi mme als ecovei

oioces ng of aggregates for construction materials and

recycling of con truction materials including conc ste and

sphrilt Core cd etc nc.lude crust ens cane usher

impact crusheis and vibrating reens and feedeis with

bi and ames such as on Giant yrosp iere and VibroKinq

commc nd ng significant market sha

In addition to cars components els suith aso designs and

iz anufacturcs complete pi ocessinq systems Telsmith capa
hilities include custom solution angirig from ti ack mobile

ci hing systenus designed for hiph mobility within mine

or quarry loige moduiai piocessing plcnts de ivciing

high production end low operating costs Combining con

sulttug ci vices engineering expertise and construction

management lelsmith bi ings unique package of solu

tons to the ma ket plo

ansistent ith Astec cot values or Id clciss cnstomer

ppo differs ntiating elemen foi Telsmith ri cloying

trcnned sei vice technicians sti ategic locations throughout

the war Ia vs prompt suppoi Investment in and man
agenient of pai inventories in um es availability of ci itical

ai ts committ cd dealei netwc Is adds to the available

rvicc capabilities and pai ts inventory Cornubining avaiL

ble paits invenrory ord expert rvke technicians avail

cib en ound the clod allows smith to exparud its oyc

rustoiuuei base

Ongoing tfo ts to streamline tt nianufac uning rocess

brought targeted investment into the Telsmith Mequon

ma uufociumimiq facility during 2008 Continuing to imple

nent lean nuanufactui nq processes several manufc ctuning

Iins were reoigrenized ith new machine tools hi inginug

focus to udividual product litre qc ality and shortening of

he manufacturing cycle

TIES NDUS1F ES Nt





KoIbergPioneer Inc
Yankton South Dakota

Kolberg Pioneer Inc desrgn ma rufa ures and markets

url hnes of washrng conveying cn ushrny cn einy dos

sifying and oor tc ble and mobue plant equipment under

the KPI Cl brand Simp solutron for all aggregc to and

ccyclrng ieeds delivered thro igh en unmatched reourcc

of knowledge or experience mnovatrve products or

systems and world doss support ystem all cxc plify

lifetime of value for the custornc through thc KPI JCI

brand For more than 75 year Kolberg Pioneer end its

dedicated KPI ICI dealer organization have bc recog

nzed within the aggregatE and ecyc mg industries as the

eny true One Source supple of depndahl eqm1m

nrent and experrenccd applftatiorr orrents uppor

In 2008 with the blendrng of AMS into rts lead rsh um

ella Kolberg Pioneer will continue strong focus to

wards developinp products for th cycls asphalt mar

kr The value of is dir ertion will be alized through the

add tior of new revenue streams for KPI ICI crs well as the

dealer netwon This allows for the expansiorn of market

beyond the traditional aggregat producer In addition

Kolberq Pioner as expa dcd its current line of KPI JCI

portable plants by insroducrng tne S3 44 crushrrry

plant targeting the entry level and recyclrng contractors

The KPI JCI line of extendable stockers along wrtf Wiz

or Touch auto rated contra system for KoIbs oneer

contrnues to be the only pro tieal solution for stockprlrnq

todays strrngent norr segregated aggr egats nerds These

highly portable tackers produce stockprles up to 35

arger than thos produced by more conventional non

xtendable stockers Thess stack rs carr also be used rn

applicatrons such as prenisiorr bin loadrng barge loadrng

ammu uniqut stockpWng con8gur ctns

The KPI Cl line washing clasifying produts onitrn

ues to lead the industry with mnnovatrve equipment arrd sys

tems with on in house resource of irrdustry krrowledge and

experrence KolbergPioneer produces over 48 models of

fne and coarse mat rial washers blade mills log washers

and classifying tanks along with rrrodels of portable

plants and two irdustry lending Spec Select control sys

tems all positioned to ncr ease the user profitability

by decreasing operating rests

STFC NDUS FS





Johnson Crushers International Inc
Eugene Oregon

Johnson ushers Inte nation designs manufactui and

ma kets fuh Incs of co ie ushrrrg scr ening porta ble and

rnobrle rock processing equip ire nt under the KPUJCI brand

throughout the world JUl and its ed cated KPI IC dealer

rgonr atioi hay en recocjnizc within the agg egate

and eyclina nd istries as the only true One Scurc sup

pI or de pendable equipment and experienced applL

cation oriented support

In 2008 bun hed the next eneration in the Kod ak

family of cone ci ishers and the cvolution on the successful

Kodial design will imp it produc enhancements to the

rr aintenance anc replocemer parts features md over

load systems JC con inues it trad tion of offern nov

inrovafvc produds witn this Kodiak orre ci usher family

that utilizes PLC bass interfa or increased crusher

oar ratio troub eshooting and mon torinq his new sys

tein snnplifes operatoi rmunagem nt and maximizes

crushei performance rid efficiem In addition refined

base frame des gn provides more duraf Ic as embly

th higher portebility charac ri stic

If new Ii of KPI JCI ombo multi angle screer from

addresses the aggrcqcrte indcstry need for mci eased

creening capacity and efficiency cf fine nraterrals The

ha Pock rapid deployment oduction system contin

ucs to redefine ndustry standards Ui productisiy rind

irofitahiIity ihe ha Pack system sari replace several

under utilized portable or statior ary production facilities

converting days of ccstly own ti no into highly profitable

oroductron time Ultimately the enduse car significantly

ddve down pr oductron costs by improving safety mci fc

roance reduirg dependre on uxilrary cupport oquip

nrent cormsuniing ress liquid fuel reducing freight expenses

and or decommissioning antiquated or under utilized as

ets whIe spreading fixed costs over more tons produced
In addition JO ras expancb its current Inc of KPI JCI

Fast Trax ob be plants by introc ucing the Ff51 62 incline

screening ants to targ the production requirements of

our quarry rodocers as well as rental recycling contr ac

tor These prodcicts are designed to crddress time demand

or increased availability flexibility arid perfornicir cc in

dverse arrc of applications

AS1EC ND EEC NC



Technology Inc Breaker Technology Ltd
fornia Soon Ohio Thornbury Ontario Canada

jy BTI manufacturei and distributor

mining quai consti uction demolition

uipment expanded its facilities and on

date reorganization of the workflow which

he efficiency of the operation Safety

don making and activities at tHs op
rinced with the new process flow nd

broad line of performance proven hydraulic attach

mnts is offered ncIuding breakers cornpartoi puvr

izers shears and multi processors Refinement of these

product lines is constantly underway in order to enhance

results in the field signifkant addition is th develop

ment of now and enhanced line of hydraulic bieakeis

with the initial and landmark addition of 6000 ft lb

model the largest in the industry

spccialty foi the company is the comprehensive iange

of rock breaker sytems stationary portable and mobile

Models are off red in six series with 32 boom breaker

combinations for bi caking ovei size at primary rushei

cjrizzlies drawpoints and stopes Focus group efforts in

this and all other product nes have contiibuted significant

ly in identifying opportunities for fewer parts improved

componentry arid maintainability and manufacturing

fciencics the developmeit of new rock breaker system

incorporating these improvements has proven popular with

the stationary boom marketplace

BlI also specializes in full line of rugged low profile on

dergrouncl utility vehicles including mobile scalers mobile

rock breakci scissor lifts ci ane trucks fuel lube trucks

ANFO lociclers shotcrete mixers and placers personnel ve
hic es and cassette systems engineered for long life low

maintenance and ease of service without sacrificing full

functionality Ihe QS Scalei Series has been enhanc ci Nith

new 50 reach model and optional tilt cab cind incorpo

iates the revolutionary vibratory pick scaling head These

ccnlers have met with great enthusiasm from the industry

and hcnve pi oven to increase production up to SO while

rdi ring maintenance costs in very demanding applications

200 Ainu pa



Astec Mobile Screens Inc
Sterling Illino

Astec Mobile Screens the or premier supplier of

nnovative screening solutions The full line of products

iclude mobile screening plants portable and atron

ory screen structures and the PEP line of high frequency

screens for the quar ecycle sand and gi avcl nining

and other matei ial processing industries Erich sc zening

plant designed built and marketed to meet the highest

demands in all kinds of applicotft ns

Operatng conditions for the matrial producer ca vary

and Astec Mobile Scr eons responds by offering broad

rce of cpernting systems
For the mobile material

pro

ducer Astec Mobile Scr is offers elf contains track

and wheel opera ing systems in aE vibrating icline sci eons

to nclude the PEP high frequency sci eons and traditional

two bear ng conventional screens For portable ai ci sta

tonary operatiors high frequency screens are available

in several porta ole configuratio is along with modular

and tradtional Br am structur es for pre screening and

or post screening applications

In 2008 Astec Mobile Screens contr wed its focus on the

yr owing recluirrrec usplrult pcrveuier RAP nicrket with

ths veIl eceived mobile ProSizer rs cycling plant

cell as track and stationar RAP system configu ations

featurirrg PEP high frequency screen and horizontal im

pact crusher HSl Prices of iquid asphalt and vir pin ag

gregates corrtinue to clnriib which leading the industry to

increase the use of RAP in hot mix asphalt HMA sign

By increasing RAP
ir mix design asphalt producers can

reduce other ingredients uch as iquid crsphcrlt and virgin

aggregate and over all operating costs

Astec Mobile Screens continued its donrinance in the fine

screening marl et with its PEP Van Vibe and Duo Vibe

ne of high frequency screens this past year For mate
ial producers seeking the highest screen capacity in the

riiorket for fines removal chip sizirrg arid nrore high fre

quency screening continues to be the choice By reriovrng

fines dry without the ut lrzation of water errviron nental

concerns and ope rating costs can be significantly no Juced

Fines material sizing and removal is critical factor rrr ag

gregc to operations so that more so cable product is pro

cluce versus creating waste stock piles and slurry ponds

ASTEC iNDUSRAS NC
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Astec Inc
Chattanooga Tennessec

AJec ic is the orld ader Hot Mix Asphalt HMA
equipment technology support id training Astec nanu

ictu es completc line of Jationary relor atablc and

portable continuous HMA or oil mediation equip

ment Core produJc include tire Double BarrEl druri mix

or Douf Barr Cireen syste TCII PC ba ed cam

puter contro ystc the Phon mx high effi rency bur icr

series the Six Pack portabls HMA facihty end New Gen

ation ongJrm storage silos In 2008 Astec announced

plans to offer ci complete line of portoble stationary and

icr cnpoLted orcrcte mixrg ILn

2008 saw gray ii industry ccccp once of worm ii ix crs

pliolt and contnuecl succe for tie tec Double Barrel

Gicen syst in Thc Double Barrel Grc en ysterrr is major

coOl rough in viarm mix asphalt technology because

does riot require tire addiiion of expensive commerci il ad

.ltives nstead ater is rnlectecl into the mix along with

the liquid asphalt cc nient he njetion of water comes the

quid asphalt to oam crnd cxpcrrrd ii volum to coat the

ggregate at loer temperaturs

October 2008 Aster lrrdus ries Inc cinnounced the

ia izaforr of th urchase of 00 of the stack owner

up of Dillmcrn cluipmerit Inc locatc in Prairie du Chren

sconsir Dillman is leading ranufacturer of asphcrlt

olant equipment The conipany uppl es the asphalt in

ustry with cornplr to Inc of aspf alt plant quipment

tfct includes ualt storage silos DuoDrum count rfiow

rum plants portable asphalt plants plant anti oh can

tra houses and selCere silos illmcrn Equipme it Inc will

coerate as division of Astec line

Astec continue to grow and mcii itannn customer bye ty

through innovative equipment signs ndustr leading

ri tome sc rvice and siat of the art technical education

ASltC NDUS RIS NC
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Heatec Inc
Chattanooga Tennessee

in 2008 Heatrc cchievcd record sales of its heaters and

storage tanks in the asphalt industry and also in industries

elated to asphalt

IFe bulk of Heatec business continues to bc produ for

the hot mix aspF alt industry Products foi this industry are

mainly asphalt heaters storagE tanks and polymer sy

ms Sales of these products has remained strong de

spite sharp declrn in the nationa economy

The comparry is expEriencing cr renewed interest iii its prod

nets for asphalt te rmina Durirrg 2008 arid tire two rnoiitla

piecedrrrg it
Heatec produced ard delivered an uiprec

dented number nf polymer blending systenrs for asphalt

tarmrnals Moreover 2009 sales of polymer systoris and

other Heatec products for terminals is very pi onrising

Thc conrpany introduced tire irestorrr water heat into

Fe concrete industry in 2006 Heatec built and delivered

several of these heaters in 2008 They are used to heat

rrx water for concrete Heated water enables conci etc

ouHt to mc ke cur ci etc that poured in cold seatler cx

tending the plants war Ic season

heaters can be used to heat water foi wide

arrety of other business open atroirs Heatec plans to intro

cluce thi Fieat into irew mai kets The heater can provide

constant supply of hot water for cleanup operations and

it can provide hr ated water needed in the nanufactur

mg process of many products Sonre rrrdusti ies where the

ater may be used cir as follows ready mix concrete

poultry ootmling plrar mnaceutncol food cornnnrei iul luuiu

dries car and truck washes aquaculture carpet and tex

Ic chemical railroads arrd hoteb

ASfEC NDUSTRItS NC



CEI Enterprises Inc

Albuquerque New Mexico

For 40 years CLI Fnterpr ises has estahhshed itsel

loading manufacturer of production equrpment for the as

phalt ledustry Known for rts hrgh quahty asphalt Hr trnq

and storage systems CLI has exdanded rts product line

to include complete asphalt plar ts rind ndustry Ic adrng

asphalta ubber ending systems

Today CEIs key products nclud Nomad and RAP

KingTM portable asphalt plants contrriuou process as

phalt-rubber bleiding systems hot oil heater asphalt

tanks fuel storage tank preheater and filterrrig systems

CLI is leader in emisiors ro if n1 tnchnoIgy offe hrq

an array of environmentally proactv products fc nc

equipment and etroflts Its nnovat ye emrssions control

products include xtreme duty vent condensers for csphalt

tanks These yr nt condensers enrpCy both cooling ystem

and supplementc arr cleanr ig device to eliminate blue

smoke emrssron Thrs technology helps producers meet

the country most demandrng regu ations on asphalt tank

em ssio

CLI also developt cI simple to intaIl low NOx conversion

lot for ot orl Irac tm Tlirn nrver nio kt offcr producers

simple cost-r ffective vay meet icr easingly slrirrgent

state and local Irriits on NOx cmrssions

Looking ahead to continued indultry trends toward war nr

nrrx asL halt CLI dergned rts RAP Krng drurrr mrxer to

ully co rpatible wrth the Astec reen system this cam-

pc tihIity offers smaller producers access to cuttrnp edge

technology for nrcrking warm mix

2008 CLI saw approximatel equal actrvity rr rnter

iational and rIo nestic mncr kets nternatronal sale were

largely conrpmised of Nomad and RAP King crsphalt plcints

ic uding exports to cuador Mexrco and Canada Domes

trcally CLI expedenced growth ow markets as coril

pci ires invested bulk Irquid storage facilities to offset

dmostrc fluctuatrons in oil prices For these fadliti CLI

clesrgned heatrng systems to maintain the tempera ure of

in Ilions of gallons of Irquid asphalt arid fuel oils CLI saw

oddrtronal growti in the energy sector producrng Hating

ystems
for the riiariufacture of cli rircals used irr oil and

ga extrc ction arrd eflnrng

/n



Roadtec Inc
Chattanooga Tenncssee

Roe dte builds bile roadbuilding epuiprnert and is

pleased to have icreased theii market share in US

paver ales by fifty pci cent in 2008

oadtec rr nufatures highwaywlass asphalt pay

er that have reputation for oeing heavy duty

extiemely re iable and durable machines Recent

upgrades include nci ease fuel capacity and irci

provements that optimize perato cc mfort

Roadtec cold planei aie among the most produc

tive machines available and feature competitive

edvantages ke igher horsepowi engines and bi

directional drums Vlith increased focus on envnon

mci tally sustainable construction prc ctice Roadte

cold planes play cruc al ole ri the reclaim ng and

recycling of old pavement

Roadtec well Ic own Shuttle Buggy material ti ans

vehcie machine hich allows contractors to

cc ly meet State DOT smoothness specifications has

been pioven in study aftei study be the only trans

device on the siar ket that can consistently delive

niateric at even temperature to the paver

The Roadtec pov erful SX reclaimer stabilizer

ed to prepaie the roadbca before pavement

Pnd anc features the greatest cut depth in the indus

ry lrtioduced 2007 the SX reclaimer stabilize

is now used in several U.S states and the company

xpects its mai ket share tc grow in 2009

Roadtec currcnt dcv loping the new cold recycle

RT 500 with it sister companies and Telsmitf

With highways and paved roads exhibiting surface

defects in need of repair util zing air innovative road

reconstruction process such as coldin placs recycling

DIR is cost effi ctive and environmentally friendly

Iturnatve to more onventional niethod

Roadtec in 2008 expanded their capabilities and

expertise to fuiti er develop Roadtecs cutter rum

mc nufactur
rig

and rebuilding pi oqram including th

obility to nianufactui cutter drunis for afieNmar Ret

needs of contractors who own competing brands

Roadtecs solid advantage in the mar Ret place is not

only its reliable productive product offering but also

ts in age as company that dcl veis personal ser

vice with ext eme fast re ponse times

ATE ND RtS Nt





Carison Paving Products Inc

Tacoma Washington

Ceo Ison Paving Product has been manufacturing osphalt

screeds for more than 20 years Initiafly stai ted end stih

located in the Pc cific Northwest arisen Paving Products

Inc has conCnued to develop new and innovative prod

ucts Manufactui ing asphalt sci eeds for all types ar sizes

of ghway class payers orison continues to mci itam ci

doniinant presence in screeds in the caving industry

Carlson has sinci expanded its product line in 2008 by

ntioducing an commerCal asphalt paver model CP90

Cai Ison Paving Pioducts will continue to strive to design

and develop products for the ospk alt industry tF at are

hi iovative user frendly and functionally superioi to any

othei equipment on the market Thcse products re de

igned with the owner operatoi and mechanic in mind

varlson ecluipri nt line is available thiougli an extensive

network of distributoi

During 2008 Carlson continued to lead the field of paver

creed technolop in the asphalt paving industi With

radition cf customei di ive prociuct enhancements Cai

son kept ahead of the compcrtit on Carlson continues to

develop and improve coi produt Ii ies including popu
oi me of ci Coos thout oboe ag trcdition 0f eas

ily operated and maintained equipment

AbTEC NDUSTRJES NC



nderground In

vrd qurpme it to meet the un
ds ustomers involved in con

ustry and the rnstaflation of it fra

high per formc nrc rock trenchers

utility trenchers and horizontal

oducts are manufactured the

uar ot facility ri Loudon Tenn

with in 2008 Aster Underground wa
ch 11 ning economy which forced many do

tpone buying decisions his trend
it trong mar ket for parts sales as cus

torn fu bish xistinq eqripment More than 50

perc nt of to nt rnational customei as the oak

doll mad quipm nt speci lly appealing

For more than 60 yrar lrerrco has been leading choice

for heavy duty rock tr nching equipment fhis tough up

godly built equipment is favorite of the oil and gas
markets rind for contiactors workrr.g in demanding dig

ji ig conditions worldwide As the wo Ids energy needs

itinue to grow we expect these rrarl ets will continue to

qener ate demand for oui specialized equipment

he Astec line of utility trr nchers arid compact frorizorital

ectional drills benefit from the same tec hnology and at

ritio to clign tL.t rrake Trencor aLhines pop ilar

he Aster RT1 160 continues as the brarrd flagship ma
iine This poweiful workhorse can be customized with

variety of attachments arid options including trenc her
oble plow backhoe tilt fiame and cab The releas of

ubber track option will add further versatility to the

iodel in 2009

Astec ieleasod new style of digging chain late in 2008
he EarthPro Raptor Series is lowproflle .ó5inch

nt backflex digqi ig chain highly resistant to wear arid

or The design eliminates components such as spacers

md spreader bars which means fewer parts for users to

torI and service ihe chain comes with year 1000
hour warranty on the bare chain It fits all makes of tren

hei and is only available at Astcc dealers

he Aster compact horizontal clii ectional drills DD
oniplement the trencher lineup to meet uctomer under

ground construction needs These units utilize technology

rid engineering derived from the maxi drills prodrced

by Aster Undergrourmds sister corimpany Annerican Augers

mc se conrpact units mrs sized for working in tight condi

tions but boast plenty of power arid torgus to km

ductron high
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American Augers Inc

West Saern Ohio

Since 9/0 American Auqc rs has been devoted to man

factur ng the best underg rounc tc hnology onstruc don

quipment and affording it custarnc pi oducts tliet main

tan rugged strength unsurpassed power and idustry

leading designs Arncrican Augers has also bc gun to di

versify its product lineup which now includes vertical drilh

ng rigs that bi np American manufactui ing to the fc efront

of tie introductic of rack and pinion top head dr vs sys

tenis to the war Idwide oil and gas industry

The VR 300 which affically law ched ir 2009 is die first

vertical drill branded under the American Du ectior al Drill

name The yR 500 providcs opt mum bit load fran initial

surface conract throughout he entire drilling operation

Drilling contractc also have the abihty to immediately

start horizonta curve after surfacs penetration resulting

in greater acces to shallow fai matrons

In 99 American Augers irti oduced ack and pinion

can age Iesiqn for use with hoi rzontal dhectionel drills

The rack and pinion design that is now the ndustry stan

clard offers smoothei carnage movement moi precisc

operc ring control and equires less downtime because

there ore no can plicated parts that nc to be car srstent

ly replaced Amencan Augers still holds the distinction of

having the largest HDD drill available that is capablc

of 00000 lbs of thrust pullbacl In terms of rrobihty

Amencan Augc is the on HDD manufacturer tc have

field prcven track mounted maxi ig styc drill

American Augers changed auger boring she it introduced

its new line of Nc xt Generation boring machines These

machines are equipped with the fast return system known as

Quik Tran arid the Quik Split design which allows the

iiachine to be separated into se dons to allow tar Iigrrter

and faster lifts into and out of the auger boring pit

American Augers also continue to manufacture mud

pump ard cleaning system as the company recognizes the

essential part that drilling fluid plays in successfu direr

tioiial drilling Americaii Augers mud cleaners use linear

shakers nstead of random shal ers that are used cam

petitor systc ms This iircr ea es the efficiency of the driller

in being ble to recycle mud
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Peterson Pacific Corp
Eugene Otegon

Peterson is knovn foi manufacturing industry eadinq

whole tree pulpwood ch ppeis hoiizantal giind rs and

blower ti ucks

Peterson Pacific Corp has hc en an Orego Corporation

si we 981 The company began as Wilbui Petei son

Sons heavy construction company In July of 2007 Pc

tei son was purc iased by Aste Industries In op sninq

new chapter in their corporate stoi

Peterson expanded into nianufacturmg to develop equip

ment to suit their land clearing constr uction needs

portable chain ail delimbei debai kei was designed first

the Model DD y800 Tfe Model DCC 5000 portable

de imber debarkei chippei as developed next followed

by the development of other portable equipment for the

paper pulp industry In 1990 Peteison developec its first

wood waste recycling machine

Continuous development of ood grindeis has led to the

curieiit line of horizontal feed woe grinders These mod
els have been very well received in the US with produc

on rates up to 50 tons pci hour

With the 2001 acquisition of mcinufacturincj rights for the

BlaTech line of blowei trucks Pcteison ha extended its

ieach into the soil erosion and Ia dscape mai kets building

uckc designed for distributing bark mulch compost and

soil amendments

The company has rapidly giown si the demand of the

industry and in 993 built their 60000 sq ft manufac

turing plant in Eugene Oregon In 2000 they expanded

again adding ai additional 50000 sq ft manufacturing

facility
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tra ty
nsand Austraflc

through pt nbc 30 2008 QPave iep
at Indust Inc Pave in 200/ and 2008

with Austr ha in the four th quai tei of

nd install ord numbei of aph lt

lant ci It avinq quipment the Australion

domin ntly lhng Roadtec paving equipment

It plants with Doub Barrel drum mix

Au traur ifferentiates itself in the rket place oy

yrdin Sr ly wel rrtegrated turnkey supply aid

iS tion pr ts and supei ioi of er sales services In

00 phalt plants were supplied ir stalled and commis

at Redbank Plains Brisbane Kapunda in Adelaide

tab in Bi isbane he Yatala project has provided

our customer with lii st class facility wtf RAP and Wai

Mix capabilities and pm of ur urnkey offei
rig

involv ml

SIr supo and in tallation of civil woi ks and other mcror

uctuies

ndour nterrst has also Crc en cated during 2008

und the ced for iecycling he markct has iesponded

ncreased interest in the Astec Double Barrel Green

tom RAP systems nd RAP processors and the business

icipatcs increased sales for thc se Astoc nnovations in

09 VVith 8mm Austi alian market bconming increasingly

ore of the need to recycle Astec Australia sold it fi st

As cc RAP Processor at the end of 2008 rind plans to 81

rio in 2009

or acquirng tIc Pave assets cit tic end of 2008 tie

iipany has immediately implemented expan ion plc ns

2009 hr plan ill ee Aster AutraIia diversify ir to

other products of Astec Industrie Inc groups iriclud

ii the AggRe on oup nrrd th Ag irE gcrte and Mining

oup Purther expansion plans include broadc ring tic

er sales sei mes to the existing product lines of Astr

Roadtec Heatcc Carlson arid Trerrcor

Sri aspfralt plants arid
pavirrg equipment are now popu

In ed throughout ialic and the number is significa it

Fuwre xpa ision plans will focus on air easmg the busi

nctworl to er su that the after sales service to toe

exictr rg products maintains customer atisfactiori and fur

eates the opportunity for future sm les
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
in thousands except as noted

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Consolidated Income Statement Data

Net sales $973700 $869025 $710607 $616068 $504554

Selling general and administrative expenses 122621 107600 94383 82126 70043

Gain on sale of real estate

net of real estate impairment charge1 -- -- -- 6531 --

Research and development 18921 15449 13561 11319 8580

Income from operations 92316 86728 60343 46303 24382

Interest expense 851 853 1672 4209 5033

Other income expense net2 5709 202 167 252 19
Income from continuing operations 63128 56797 39588 28094 12483

Income from discontinued operations

netoftax3 1164

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations

net of tax of $5071 -- -- -- -- 5406

Net income 63128 56797 39588 28094 19053

Earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations

Basic 2.83 2.59 1.85 1.38 0.63

Diluted 2.80 2.53 1.81 1.34 0.62

Income from discontinued operations

Basic 0.33

Diluted 0.33

Net income

Basic 2.83 2.59 1.85 1.38 0.96

Diluted 2.80 2.53 1.81 1.34 0.95

$251263 $204839 $178148 $137981 $106489

612812 542570 421863 346583 324818

3427 -- -- -- 11827

-- -- -- -- 25857

439226 376589 296166 242742 191256

19.45 16.78 13.51 11.57 9.52

During 2005 the Company recognized gain on the sale of its vacated Grapevine Texas
facility

In addition the Company

recognized an impairment charge on certain other real estate

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company sold certain equity securities for pre-tax gain of $6195000

The Company sold substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Superior Industries of Morris Inc on June 30 2004

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Working capital

Total assets

Total short-term debt

Long-term debt less current maturities

Shareholders equity

Book value per diluted common share

at yearend
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
in thousands except as noted

Quarterly Financial Highlights First Second Third Fourth

Unaudited Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2008 Net sales $263072 $277703 $237443 $195482

Gross profit 66220 66289 58803 42546

Net income 17519 21072 15962 8575

Earnings per common share

Net income

Basic 0.79 0.95 0.72 0.38

Diluted 0.78 0.93 0.71 0.38

2007 Net sales $215563 $226414 $206239 $220810

Gross profit 54373 58943 48561 47901

Net income 15334 18505 11574 11384

Earnings per common share

Net income

Basic 0.71 0.85 0.52 0.51

Diluted 0.69 0.83 0.51 0.50

Common Stock Price

2008 High $39.76 $42.38 $37.55 $33.99

2008 Low 25.51 31.16 19.40 17.00

2007 High $40.90 $45.24 $59.36 $60.40

2007 Low 32.94 39.43 42.53 33.75

The Companys common stock is traded on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation NASDAQ National

Market under the symbol ASTE Prices shown are the high and low bid prices as announced by NASDAQ The Company has never

paid dividends on its common stock and does not intend to pay dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future As

determined by the proxy search on the record date the number of common shareholders is approximately 14000
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve inherent risks and uncertainties

Actual results may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements For additional

information regarding forward-looking statements see Forward-looking Statements on page 44

Overview

Astec Industries Inc the Company is leading manufacturer and marketer of road building equipment

The Companys businesses

design engineer manufacture and market equipment that is used in each phase of road building

from quarrying and crushing the aggregate to applying the asphalt

design engineer manufacture and market equipment and components unrelated to road construction

including trenching auger boring directional drilling industrial heat transfer wood chipping and

grinding and

manufacture and sell replacement parts for equipment in each of its product lines

The Company has 14 manufacturing companies 13 of which fall within four reportable operating segments

which include the Asphalt Group the Aggregate and Mining Group the Mobile Asphalt Paving Group and the

Underground Group The business units in the Asphalt Group design manufacture and market complete

line of asphalt plants and related components heating and heat transfer processing equipment and storage

tanks for the asphalt paving and other unrelated industries In early 2009 the Company introduced new line

of concrete mixing plants The business units in the Aggregate and Mining Group design manufacture and

market equipment for the aggregate metallic mining and recycling industries The business units in the Mobile

Asphalt Paving Group design manufacture and market asphalt payers material transfer vehicles milling

machines stabilizers and screeds The business units in the Underground Group design manufacture and

market complete line of trenching equipment directional drills and auger boring machines for the underground

construction market as well as vertical drills for gas and oil field development The Company also has one

other category that contains the business units that do not meet the requirements for separate disclosure as

an operating segment The business units in the Other category include Peterson Pacific Corp Peterson
Astec Australia Pty Ltd Astec Insurance Company and Astec Industries Inc the parent company

The Companys financial performance is affected by number of factors including the cyclical nature and

varying conditions of the markets it serves Demand in these markets fluctuates in response to overall economic

conditions and is particularly sensitive to the amount of public sector spending on infrastructure development

privately funded infrastructure development changes in the price of crude oil fuel costs and liquid asphalt

and changes in the price of steel

In August 2005 President Bush signed into law the Safe Accountable Flexible and Efficient Transportation

Equity Act Legacy for Users SAFETEA-LU which authorizes appropriation of $286.5 billion in guaranteed

federal funding for road highway and bridge construction repair and improvement of the federal highways

and other transit projects for federal fiscal years October 2004 through September 30 2009 The Company
believes that the federal highway funding significantly influences the purchasing decisions of the Companys
customers who are more comfortable making purchasing decisions with the legislation in place The federal

funding provides for approximately 25% of highway street roadway and parking construction funding in the

United States President Bush signed into law on September 30 2008 funding bill for the 2009 fiscal year

which fully
funds the highway program at $41.2 billion

On February 17 2009 President Obama signed into law the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act

of 2009 The measure includes approximately $27.5 billion for highway and bridge construction activities

These funds are in addition to the expected $41 .2 billion investment related to the federal highway program

for fiscal year 2009 The measure requires the funding to be apportioned to the states within 21 days of the

bills enactment Half of the funds must be obligated by the states within 120 days with the remaining portion

required to be under contract one year after the bills enactment The bill also proposes continuation of the

50% bonus tax depreciation for 2009 and an increase of the Section 179 deduction to $250000

The Canadian government has approved spending $9.5 billion on road bridge public transit water and other

infrastructure over the next two years The list of approximately 2200 shovel-ready projects derived from

survey of federation members range from simple rehabilitation to major new construction
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

The Company believes the spending programs will have positive impact on its financial performance

however the magnitude of that impact cannot be determined

The public sector spending described above is needed to fund road bridge and mass transit improvements

The Company believes that increased funding is unquestionably needed to restore the nations highways

to quality level required for safety fuel efficiency and mitigation of congestion In the Companys opinion

amounts needed for such improvements are significantly above amounts approved and funding mechanisms

such as the federal usage fee per gallon of gasoline which has not been increased in 15 years would need

to be increased along with other measures to generate the funds needed

In addition to public sector funding the economies in the markets the Company serves the price of oil and

its impact on customers purchase decisions and the price of steel may each affect the Companys financial

performance Economic downturns like the one experienced from 2001 through 2003 generally result in

decreased purchasing by the Companys customers which in turn causes reductions in sales and increased

pricing pressure on the Companys products Rising interest rates typically have the effect of negatively

impacting customers attitudes toward purchasing equipment Although the Federal Reserve has recently

made significant reductions to interest rates in response to the current economic downturn the Company

expects only slight changes if any in interest rates in 2009 and does not expect such changes to have

material impact on the financial results of the Company

Significant portions of the Companys revenues relate to the sale of equipment involved in the production

handling and installation of asphalt mix major component of asphalt is oil An increase in the price of

oil increases the cost of providing asphalt which could likely decrease demand for asphalt and therefore

decrease demand for certain Company products While increasing oil prices may have an impact on the

Companys customers the Companys equipment can use significant amount of recycled asphalt pavement

thereby mitigating the cost of asphalt for the customer The Company continues to develop products and

initiatives to reduce the amount of oil and related products required to produce asphalt mix Oil price volatility

makes it difficult to predict the costs of oil-based products used in road construction such as liquid asphalt

and gasoline The Companys customers appear to be adapting their prices in response to the fluctuating oil

prices and the fluctuations did not appear to significantly impair equipment purchases in 2008 The Company

expects oil prices to continue to fluctuate in 2009 but does not foresee the fluctuation to have significant

impact on customers buying decisions

Steel is major component in the Companys equipment Steel prices retracted somewhat during 2005 and

2006 from record highs during 2004 but returned to historically high levels during 2008 Steel prices increased

significantly during the first eight months of 2008 and the Company increased sales prices during the first

half of 2008 to offset these rising steel costs Late in the third quarter of 2008 steel prices began to retreat

from their 2008 highs Steel pricing declined sharply in the fourth quarter of 2008 We expect fourth quarter

pricing to continue through the first quarter of 2009 and pricing levels throughout 2009 to remain well below

the peak levels reached in the third quarter of 2008 However moderate increases are possible during 2009

due to reduced mill output and reductions in automotive and appliance output which reduce the amount of

high-quality scrap prime input factor for steel pricing In addition spending under the American Recovery

and Reinvestment Act of 2009 may impact steel prices by slowing the price retraction or even causing steel

prices to rise Although the Company would institute price increases in response to rising steel and component

prices if the Company is not able to raise the prices of its products enough to cover increased costs the

Companys financial results will be negatively affected If the Company sees increases in upcoming steel

prices it will take advantage of buying opportunities to offset such future pricing where possible

In addition to the factors stated above many of the Companys markets are highly competitive and its

products compete worldwide with number of other manufacturers and distributors that produce and sell

similar products During most of 2008 the reduced value of the dollar relative to many foreign currencies

and the positive economic conditions in certain foreign economies had positive impact on the Companys
international sales During the latter months of 2008 the dollar began to strengthen as the current economic

recession began to have an impact around the world

In the United States and internationally the Companys equipment is marketed directly to customers as well

as through dealers During 2008 approximately 75% to 80% of equipment sold by the Company was sold

directly to the end user
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

The Company is operated on decentralized basis and there is complete management team for each operating

subsidiary Finance insurance legal shareholder relations corporate accounting and other corporate matters

are primarily handled at the corporate level i.e Astec Industries Inc the parent company The engineering

design sales manufacturing and basic accounting functions are all handled at each individual subsidiary

Standard accounting procedures are prescribed and followed in all reporting

The non-union employees of each subsidiary have the opportunity to earn profit sharing distributions in the

aggregate up to 10% of the subsidiarys after-tax profit if such subsidiary meets established goals These

goals are based on the subsidiarys return on capital employed cash flow on capital employed and safety The

profit sharing distributions for subsidiary presidents are paid from separate corporate pool

Results of Operations 2008 vs 2007

The Company generated net income for 2008 of $63128000 or $2.80 per diluted share compared to net

income of $56797000 or $2.53 per diluted share in 2007 The weighted average number of diluted common

shares outstanding at December 31 2008 was 22585775 compared to 22444866 at December 31 2007

Net sales for 2008 were $973700000 an increase of $104675000 or 12.0% compared to net sales of

$869025000 in 2007 The increase in net sales in 2008 occurred in both domestic and international sales

and was primarily due to the continued weakness of the dollar against foreign currencies and strong economic

conditions internationally during most of 2008

In 2008 international sales increased $74377000 or 26.7% to $352713000 compared to international sales

of $278336000 in 2007 International sales increased the most in Asia followed by Canada Africa South

America and Central America These increases are due primarily to continued weakness of the dollar against

these currencies and strong local economic conditions in these geographic areas during most of 2008

In 2008 domestic sales increased $30297000 or 5.1% to $620987000 compared to domestic sales of

$590690000 in 2007 Domestic sales are primarily generated from equipment purchases made by customers

for use in construction for privately funded infrastructure development and public sector spending on

infrastructure development

Parts sales were $204912000 in 2008 compared to $186146000 in 2007 for an increase of 10.1% The

increase of $18766000 was generated mainly by the Underground Group and the Asphalt Group The

increase was primarily due to strong economic conditions both domestically and abroad increased parts

marketing efforts and growth in the active machine population

Gross profit increased from $209778000 in 2007 to $233858000 in 2008 The gross profit as percentage

of net sales decreased 10 basis points from 24.1% in 2007 to 24.0% in 2008 The primary factor that caused

this decrease in gross profit as percentage of net sales was an increase in overhead of $5520000 in 2008

as compared to 2007 The increase in overhead is due primarily to manufacturing process improvement

projects as well as the impact of slowing economic activity during the second half of the year resulting in lower

absorption of overhead As these improvement projects occurred the flow of production was disrupted and

certain production resources were used to complete the projects thus creating inefficiencies which resulted in

excess production costs Steel and component cost increases were offset by sales price increases redesign

of the product and improvements in the manufacturing process

In 2008 selling general and administrative SGA expenses increased $15021000 or 14.0% to

$122621000 or 12.6% of 2008 net sales from $107600000 or 12.4% of net sales in 2007 The increase in

SGA in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily due to increases in personnel related expenses of $7790000

sales commissions of $1424000 and health insurance of $2911000 In addition ConExpo costs of

$3594000 were expensed in 2008

Research and development expenses increased by $3472000 or 22.5% from $15449000 in 2007 to

$18921000 in 2008 The increase is related to the development of new products and improvement of current

products

Interest expense for 2008 remained flat at $851 000 from $853000 in 2007 This equates to 0.1% of net sales

in both 2008 and 2007
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

Interest income decreased $1845000 or 67.5% to $888000 in 2008 from $2733000 in 2007 The decrease

is primarily due to reduction in cash available for investment due to business acquisitions in 2008

Other income expense net was income of $5709000 in 2008 compared to expense of $202000 in 2007

The net change in other income from 2007 to 2008 was due primarily to gains on the sale of investments

For 2008 the Company had an overall income tax expense of $34767000 or 35.5% of pre-tax income

compared to the 2007 tax expense of $31398000 or 35.5% of pre-tax income

Earnings per share for 2008 were $2.80 per diluted share compared to $2.53 per diluted share for 2007
10.7% increase

The backlog at December 31 2008 was $193316000 compared to $280923000 including the backlogs of

Dillman and Astec Australia at December31 2007 31.2% decrease The international backlog at December

31 2008 was $87693000 compared to $88842000 at December31 2007 decrease of $1149000 or 1.3%

The domestic backlog at December 31 2008 was $105623000 compared to $192081000 at December 31
2007 decrease of $86458000 or 45.0% The backlog decreased $47691000 in the Aggregate and Mining

Group followed by decrease of $27135000 in the Asphalt Group The Company is unable to determine

whether this backlog effect was experienced by the industry as whole however the Company believes the

decreased backlog reflects the current economic conditions the industry is experiencing

Asphalt Group During 2008 this segment had sales of $257336000 compared to $240229000 for 2007

an increase of $17107000 or 7.1% Asphalt Group sales increased both domestically and internationally

International sales increased primarily in Canada and Central America Segment profits for 2008 were

$40765000 compared to $37707000 for 2007 an increase of $3058000 or 8.1% The focus on product

improvement and cost reduction through the Companys focus group initiative as well as price increases and

increased international sales impacted gross profits and segment income during 2008

Aggregate and Mining Group During 2008 sales for this segment increased $12167000 or 3.6% to

$350350000 compared to $338183000 for 2007 The primary increase in sales was attributable to increased

international sales in Asia Africa and South America Domestic sales for the Aggregate and Mining Group were

down 12.3% compared to 2007 Segment profits for 2008 decreased $1860000 or 4.8% to $37032000
from $38892000 for 2007 The primary reasons for the decrease in segment profits was ConExpo expenses

of $1 578000 in 2008 and weakening sales volume and gross profit in the fourth quarter of 2008

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group During 2008 sales for this segment increased $4203000 or 2.9% to

$150692000 from $146489000 in 2007 The increase in sales in 2008 compared to 2007 was attributable

to international sales International sales increased in Europe Canada and South America Domestic sales

decreased slightly year over year Segment profits for 2008 decreased $2798000 or 15.6% to $15087000

from $17885000 for 2007 The decrease in segment profits was primarily due to increased research and

development costs ConExpo expenses of $665000 in 2008 and weakening sales volume and gross profit in

the fourth quarter of 2008

Underground Group During 2008 sales for this segment increased $20774000 or 18.2% to $135152000
from $114378000 for 2007 International sales for this group increased in South America Africa China

Japan and Korea Segment profits for 2008 increased $5163000 from $7348000 in 2007 to $12511000 in

2008 The sales and profit increase is primarily due to market acceptance of new products

Other During 2008 sales for this segment increased $50424000 or 169.5% to $80170000 from

$29746000 in 2007 $42337000 of this increase is due to the acquisitions of Peterson and Astec Australia

Results of Operations 2007 vs 2006

The Company generated net income for 2007 of $56797000 or $2.53 per diluted share compared to net

income of $39588000 or $1.81 per diluted share in 2006 The weighted average number of diluted common
shares outstanding at December31 2007 was 22444866 compared to 21917123 at December 31 2006

Net sales for 2007 were $869025000 an increase of $158418000 or 22.3% compared to net sales of

$710607000 in 2006 The increase in net sales in 2007 occurred in both domestic and international sales

and was primarily due to the continued weakness of the dollar against foreign currencies and strong economic

conditions internationally and domestically
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

In 2007 international sales increased $86185000 or 44.9% to $278336000 compared to international sales

of $192151000 in 2006 International sales increased the most in Australia followed by Canada and South

America These increases are due primarily to continued weakness of the dollar against these currencies and

improving local economic conditions in these geographic areas

In 2007 domestic sales increased $72234000 or 13.9% to $590690000 compared to domestic sales

of $518456000 in 2006 Domestic sales are primarily generated from equipment purchases made by

customers for use in construction for privately funded infrastructure development and public sector spending

on infrastructure development

Parts sales were $186146000 in 2007 compared to $165487000 in 2006 for an increase of 12.5% The

increase of $20659000 was generated mainly by the Underground Group and the Aggregate and Mining

Group The increase was primarily due to improving economic conditions both domestically and abroad and

increased parts marketing efforts

Gross profit increased from $168287000 in 2006 to $209778000 in 2007 As result the gross profit

as percentage of net sales increased 40 basis points from 23.7% in 2006 to 24.1% in 2007 The primary

factors that caused this increase in gross profit were increased international sales increased parts sales

price increases and the impact of the Companys cost and design initiative programs These improvements in

gross profit were offset by an increase in overhead of $3214000 in 2007 as compared to 2006 The increase

in overhead is due primarily to the facility expansion projects at certain subsidiaries As these improvement

projects occurred the flow of production was disrupted and certain production resources were used to complete

the projects thus creating inefficiencies which resulted in excess production costs

In 2007 selling general and administrative SGA expenses increased $13217000 or 14.0% to

$107600000 or 12.4% of 2007 net sales from $94383000 or 13.3% of net sales in 2006 The increase in

SGA in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to increases in personnel related expenses of $4462000

profit sharing expense of $1842000 sales commissions of $1745000 travel lodging and meals expense of

$1 780000 and depreciation of $814000 Each of these expenses increased in anticipation of or as result

of increased sales volumes

Research and development expenses increased by $1888000 or 13.9% from $13561000 in 2006 to

$15449000 in 2007 The increase is related to the development of new products and improvement of current

products

Interest expense for 2007 decreased by $81 9000 or 49.0% to $853000 from $1 672000 in 2006 This

equates to 0.1% of net sales in 2007 compared to 0.2% of net sales for 2006 During April 2007 the Company

entered into new credit agreement which reduced the interest charged related to the revolving credit line

and letters of credit

Interest income increased $1 264000 or 86.0% to $2733000 in 2007 from $1 469000 in 2006 The increase

is primarily due to higher investment of excess cash in 2007 compared to 2006

Other income expense net was an expense of $202000 in 2007 compared to income of $167000 in 2006

The net change in other income from 2006 to 2007 was due primarily to an increase in losses on foreign

currency transactions

For 2007 the Company had an overall income tax expense of $31398000 or 35.5% of pre-tax income

compared to the 2006 tax expense of $20638000 or 34.2% of pre-tax income The primary reason for

the increase in the effective tax rate in 2007 compared to 2006 is the repeal of the Extra-Territorial Income

Exclusion for 2007

Earnings per share for 2007 were $2.53 per diluted share compared to $1.81 per diluted share for 2006

resulting in 39.8% increase

The backlog at December 31 2007 was $272422000 compared to $246240000 including Peterson at

December 31 2006 10.6% increase The backlog increased $13804000 in the Asphalt Group followed by

increases of $3661000 in the Aggregate and Mining Group and $3638000 in the Underground Group The

Company is unable to determine whether this backlog effect was experienced by the industry as whole The

Company believes the increased backlog reflects increased international sales demand relating to the weak

dollar and strong foreign economies along with the impact of federal funding under SAFETEA-LU
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

Asphalt Group During 2007 this segment had sales of $240229000 compared to $186657000 for 2006

an increase of $53572000 or 28.7% Asphalt Group sales increased both domestically and internationally

The international sales increased primarily in Australia and South America Segment profits for 2007 were

$37707000 compared to $24387000 for 2006 an increase of $13320000 or 54.6% The focus on product

improvement and cost reduction through the Companys focus group initiative as well as price increases and

increased international sales impacted gross profits and segment income during 2007

Aggregate and Mining Group During 2007 sales for this segment increased $48712000 or 16.8%

to $338183000 compared to $289471000 for 2006 The primary increase in sales was attributable to

increased international sales Domestic sales for the Aggregate and Mining Group were flat compared to

2006 International sales increased primarily in Canada South America and the Middle East Segment profits

for 2007 increased $5629000 or 16.9% to $38892000 from $33263000 for 2006 Profits improved due to

increased international sales and increased parts sales

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group During 2007 sales for this segment increased $17104000 or 13.2% to

$146489000 from $129385000 in 2006 The increase in sales in 2007 compared to 2006 was almost

evenly split between international and domestic sales International sales improved in Australia Southeast

Asia Europe and South America Segment profits for 2007 increased $3517000 or 24.5% to $17885000

from $14368000 for 2006 Segment profits were positively impacted by both improved machine sales volume

and parts sales volume

Underground Group During 2007 sales for this segment increased $9284000 or 8.8% to $114378000

from $105094000 for 2006 This increase is due primarily to increased sales of large trenchers directional

drills and auger boring machines International sales for this group increased slightly compared to 2006

Segment profits for 2007 increased $2482000 from $4866000 in 2006 to $7348000 in 2007

Other The sales of $29746000 in this segment in 2007 were generated by Peterson Pacific Corp which was

acquired on July 2007 There were no sales in this segment in 2006

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Companys primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are its cash on hand investments borrowing

capacity under $100 million revolving credit
facility

and cash flows from operations Cash available for

operating purposes was $9674000 at December 31 2008 The Company had $3129000 of borrowings

under its credit facility
with Wachovia Bank National Association Wachovia at December 31 2008 Net of

letters of credit of $10734000 the Company had borrowing availability of $86137000 on its credit facility at

December 31 2008

During April 2007 the Company entered into an unsecured credit agreement with Wachovia whereby Wachovia

has extended to the Company an unsecured line of credit of up to $100000000 including sub-limit for letters

of credit of up to $15000000 The Wachovia credit agreement replaced the previous $87500000 secured

credit facility the Company had in place with General Electric Capital Corporation and General Electric Capital-

Canada

The Wachovia credit facility has an original term of three years which is subject to further extensions as

provided therein Early in 2009 the Company exercised its right to extend the credit facilitys term one

additional year An additional one year extension is available The interest rate for borrowings is function of

the Adjusted LIBOR Rate or Adjusted LIBOR Market Index Rate as defined as elected by the Company plus

margin based upon leverage ratio pricing grid ranging between 0.5% and .5% As of December31 2008

the applicable margin based upon the leverage ratio pricing grid was equal to 0.5% The unused facility
fee is

0.125% The interest rate at December 31 2008 was 0.94% The Wachovia credit facility requires no principal

amortization and interest only payments are due in the case of loans bearing interest at the Adjusted LIBOR

Market Index Rate monthly in arrears and in the case of loans bearing interest at the Adjusted LIBOR Rate at

the end of the applicable interest period The Wachovia credit agreement contains certain financial covenants

including minimum fixed charge coverage ratio minimum tangible net worth and maximum allowed capital

expenditures The borrowings are classified as current liabilities as the Company plans to repay the debt

within the next 12 months
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The Company was in compliance with the covenants under its credit
facility as of December 31 2008

The Companys South African subsidiary Osborn Engineered Products SA Pty Ltd Osborn has available

credit
facility of approximately $5978000 ZAR 50000000 to finance short-term working capital needs as

well as to cover the short-term establishment of letter of credit performance guarantees As of December 31
2008 Osborn had $298000 outstanding borrowings under the credit facility at 15% interest and approximately

$1 854000 in performance bonds which were guaranteed under the facility The
facility is secured by Osborns

buildings and improvements accounts receivable and cash balances and $2000000 letter of credit issued

by the parent Company The portion of the available facility not secured by the $2000000 letter of credit

fluctuates monthly based upon seventy-five percent 75% of Osborns accounts receivable and total cash

balances at the end of the prior month as well as buildings and improvements of $1 983000 As of December

31 2008 Osborn had available credit under the
facility

of approximately $3826000 The facility expires on

July 30 2009 and the Company plans to renew the facility prior to expiration There is no unused
facility fee

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 was $10038000 compared

to $45744000 for the year ended December 31 2007 The decrease in cash provided by operating activities

is primarily due to an increase in cash used for inventory of $28195000 an increase in cash used to reduce

other accrued liabilities of $10588000 decrease in customer deposits of $14511000 increases in cash

used for income taxes payable of $8175000 and cash used to pay down accounts payable of $10733000
These uses of cash were offset by increased earnings of $6331 000 cash provided by accounts receivable

of $21 771 000 and increases in the provision for warranty of $5820000

Cash flows used by investing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 were $41 438000 compared to

$68261 000 for the year ended December31 2007 During 2008 the Company purchased Dillman Equipment

Inc and Double Investments Inc using net cash of $16493000 In addition the Company purchased

0-Pave Pty Ltd assets using $1797000 of cash and increased expenditures for property and equipment of

$1 481000 in 2008 over 2007 These current year uses of cash were offset by cash proceeds of $1 6500000
from the sale of investments compared to $10305000 used to purchase investments in 2007 Investing cash

flows were impacted in 2007 by the purchase of Peterson Pacific Corp for net cash of $19656000

Cash provided by financing activities was $7624000 in 2008 compared to $11935000 in 2007 Financing

cash flows were primarily impacted by reduction of $12175000 in cash provided by stock options exercised

and the related tax benefits in 2008 compared to 2007 partially offset by reduction in the cash used to pay
off debt assumed in business acquisitions of $6588000 In addition net borrowings increased $3427000 in

2008

Capital expenditures in 2009 are budgeted to be approximately $30473000 The Company expects to finance

these expenditures using cash currently available the available capacity under the Companys revolving

credit facility and internally generated funds Capital expenditures for 2008 were $39932000 compared to

$38451000 in 2007

The Company believes that its current working capital cash flows generated from future operations and

available capacity remaining under its credit
facility

will be sufficient to meet the Companys working capital

and capital expenditure requirements through December 31 2009

Financial Condition

The Companys current assets increased from $348732000 at December 31 2007 to $395099000
at December 31 2008 an increase of $46367000 or 13.3% The increase is primarily attributable to

$74999000 increase in inventory This increase was offset by decreases in cash of $24963000 and trade

receivables of $12568000 The increase in inventory is due primarily to increased levels of finished goods

and raw materials acquired in the acquisitions of Dillman Equipment Inc and Astec Australia Pty Ltd as well

as inventory purchased to meet the Companys increased demand during 2008 and weakened sales in the

fourth quarter of 2008 The increase in inventory resulted in the Companys inventory turn ratio decreasing

from 3.45 at December 31 2007 to 2.91 at December 31 2008 The decrease in cash is primarily due to the

acquisitions mentioned above The decrease in receivables is primarily due to the decrease in the Companys
sales volume during the fourth quarter of 2008
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Property and Equipment net increased $27602000 from $141528000 at December 31 2007 to

$169130000 at December 31 2008 The increase is primarily result of capital expenditures for fixed assets

of $39932000 and additions due to business acquisitions of $6621000 offset by current year depreciation

of $16657000

The long-term portion of the Companys investments decreased by $8617000 from $18529000 at

December 31 2007 to $9912000 at December 31 2008 This decrease is primarily attributed to the sale

of certain investments during the fourth quarter of 2008 for pre-tax gain of $6195000 which is included in

other income

Market Risk and Risk Management Policies

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates primarily from its revolving credit agreements At

December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company did not have interest rate derivatives in place hypothetical

100 basis point adverse move increase in interest rates would not have materially affected interest expense

for the year ended December 31 2008 since there were only minimal amounts outstanding on the revolving

credit agreements during most of the year

The Company is subject to foreign exchange risk at its foreign operations Foreign operations represent

9.9% of total assets at December 31 2008 and 2007 and 7.6% and 7.4% of total revenue for the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Each period the balance sheets and related results of

operations are translated from their functional foreign currency into U.S dollars for reporting purposes As the

dollar strengthens against those foreign currencies the foreign denominated net assets and operating results

become less valuable in the Companys reporting currency When the dollar weakens against those currencies

the foreign denominated net assets and operating results become more valuable in the Companys reporting

currency At each reporting date the fluctuation in the value of the net assets and operating results due to

foreign exchange rate changes is recorded as an adjustment to other comprehensive income in shareholders

equity

From time to time the Companys foreign subsidiaries enter into transactions not denominated in their functional

currency In these situations the Company evaluates the need to hedge those transactions against foreign

currency rate fluctuations Where the Company determines need to hedge transaction the subsidiary

enters into foreign currency hedge The Company does not apply hedge accounting to these contracts and

therefore recognizes the fair value of these contracts in the consolidated balance sheet and the change in the

fair value of the contracts in current earnings

Due to the limited exposure to foreign exchange rate risk 10% fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates

at December 31 2008 or 2007 would not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial

statements

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table discloses aggregate information about the Companys contractual obligations and the

period in which payments are due as of December 31 2008

Payments Due by Period

Less Than MoreThan
Contractual Obligations Total to Years to Years

lYear 5Years

Operating lease obligations 3079000 1460000 1559000 44000 16000

Inventory purchase obligations 957000 901 000 56000 -- --

Debt obligations 3427000 298000 3129000 -- --

Total 8463000 3659000 4744000 44000 16000

The table excludes our liability
for unrecognized tax benefits which totaled $939000 at December 31 2008

since we cannot predict with reasonable reliability the timing of cash settlements to the respective taxing

authorities
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Although the Companys borrowings under its Wachovia credit line are classified as current at December

31 2008 because the Company intends to repay the amounts within twelve months the amounts are not

contractually due until the expiration of the credit agreement in May 2011 and therefore are shown in the

above schedule as due in to years

In 2008 the Company made contributions of approximately $562000 to its pension plan and $313000 to

its post-retirement benefit plans for total of $875000 compared to $1 060000 in 2007 The Company
estimates that it will contribute total of approximately $248000 to the pension and post-retirement plans

during 2009 The Companys funding policy for all plans is to make the minimum annual contributions required

by applicable regulations

Contingencies

Management has reviewed all claims and lawsuits and upon the advice of counsel has made adequate

provision for any losses that can be reasonably estimated However the Company is unable to predict the

ultimate outcome of the outstanding claims and lawsuits

Certain customers have financed purchases of the Companys products through arrangements in which the

Company is contingently liable for customer debt and residual value guarantees aggregating $241 000 and

$776000 at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively These obligations have average remaining terms of

two years There are no recorded liabilities related to these guarantees

The Company is contingently liable under letters of credit of approximately $10734000 primarily for

performance guarantees to customers or insurance carriers

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2008 the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item

303a4 of Regulation S-K

Environmental Matters

The Company has received notice that Johnson Crushers International Inc is subject to an enforcement

action brought by the U.S Environmental Protection Agency and the Oregon Department of Environmental

Quality related to an alleged failure to comply with federal and state air permitting regulations Each agency
is expected to seek sanctions that will include monetary penalties No penalty has yet been proposed The

Company believes that it has cured the alleged violations and is cooperating fully with the regulatory agencies
At this stage of the investigations the Company is unable to predict the outcome and the amount of any such

sanctions

The Company has also received notice from the Environmental Protection Agency that it may be responsible

for portion of the costs incurred in connection with an environmental cleanup in Illinois The discharge of

hazardous materials and associated cleanup relate to activities occurring prior to the Companys acquisition

of Barber-Greene in 1986 The Company believes that over 300 other parties have received similar notice At

this time the Company cannot predict whether the EPA will seek to hold the Company liable for portion of

the cleanup costs or the amount of any such liability

Critical Accounting Policies

The Companys consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States Application of these principles requires the Company to make

estimates and judgments that affect the amounts as reported in the consolidated financial statements

Accounting policies that are critical to aid in understanding and evaluating the results of operations and

financial position of the Company include the following

Inventory Valuation Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market The most significant component of

the Companys inventories is steel Open market prices which are subject to volatility determine the cost of

steel for the Company During periods when open market prices decline the Company may need to provide an

allowance to reduce the carrying value of the inventory In addition certain items in inventory become obsolete

over time and the Company establishes an allowance to reduce the carrying value of these items to their
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net realizable value The amounts in these inventory allowances are determined by the Company based on

estimates assumptions and judgments made from the information available at that time Historically inventory

reserves have been sufficient to provide for proper valuation of the Companys inventory The Company does

not believe it is reasonably likely that the inventory allowances will materially change in the near future

Self-Insurance Reserves The Company is insuring the retention portion of workers compensation claims and

general liability claims by way of captive insurance company Astec Insurance Company Astec Insurance

or the captive The objectives of Astec Insurance are to improve control over and reduce retained loss costs

to improve focus on risk reduction with development of program structure which rewards proactive loss

control and to ensure active management participation in the defense and settlement process for claims

For general liability claims the captive is liable for the first $1 million per occurrence and $2.5 million per year

in the aggregate The Company carries general liability excess liability and umbrella policies for claims in

excess of those covered by the captive

For workers compensation claims the captive is liable for the first $350000 per occurrence and $4.0 million

per year in the aggregate The Company utilizes third-party administrator for workers compensation claims

administration and carries insurance coverage for claims liabilities in excess of amounts covered by the

captive

The financial statements of the captive are consolidated into the financial statements of the Company The

short-term and long-term reserves for claims and potential claims related to general liability and workers

compensation under the captive are included in Accrued Loss Reserves and Other Long-Term Liabilities

respectively in the consolidated balance sheets depending on the expected timing of future payments The

undiscounted reserves are actuarially determined based on the Companys evaluation of the type and severity

of individual claims and historical information primarily its own claims experience along with assumptions

about future events Changes in assumptions as well as changes in actual experience could cause these

estimates to change in the future However the Company does not believe it is reasonably likely that the

reserve level will materially change in the near future

At all but one of the Companys domestic manufacturing subsidiaries the Company is self-insured for health

and prescription claims under its Group Health Insurance Plan The Company carries reinsurance coverage

to limit its exposure for individual health claims above certain limits Third parties administer health claims and

prescription medication claims The Company maintains reserve for the self-insured health and prescription

plans which is included in accrued loss reserves on the Companys consolidated balance sheets This reserve

includes both unpaid claims and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported based on historical claims and

payment experience Historically the reserves have been sufficient to provide for claims payments Changes

in actual claims experience or payment patterns could cause the reserve to change but the Company does

not believe it is reasonably likely that the reserve level will materially change in the near future

The remaining U.S subsidiary is covered under fully insured group health plan Employees of the Companys

foreign subsidiaries are insured under health plans in accordance with their local governmental requirements

No reserves are necessary for these fully insured health plans

Product Warranty Reserve The Company accrues for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time

revenue is recognized We evaluate our warranty obligations by product line or model based on historical

warranty claims experience For machines our standard product warranty terms generally include post-sales

support and repairs of products at no additional charge for periods ranging from three months to one year or

up to specified number of hours of operation For parts from our component suppliers we rely on the original

manufacturers warranty that accompanies those parts and make no additional provision for warranty claims

Generally our fabricated parts are not covered by specific warranty terms Although failure of fabricated parts

due to material or workmanship is rare if it occurs our policy is to replace fabricated parts at no additional

charge

We engage in extensive product quality programs and processes including actively monitoring and evaluating

the quality of our component suppliers Our estimated warranty obligation is based upon warranty terms

product failure rates repair costs and current period machine shipments If actual product failure rates repair

costs service delivery costs or post-sales support costs differ from our estimates revisions to the estimated

warranty liability
would be required The Company does not believe it is reasonably likely that the warranty

reserve will materially change in the near future
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Pension and Post-retirement Benefits The determination of obligations and expenses under the Companys

pension and post-retirement benefit plans is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by the

Companys independent actuaries in calculating such amounts Those assumptions are described in Note

11 to the consolidated financial statements and include among others the discount rate expected return on

plan assets and the expected rates of increase in health care costs In accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States actual results that differ from assumptions are accumulated and

amortized over future periods and therefore generally affect the recognized expense in such periods The

Company has determined that 1% change in either the discount rate or the rate of return on plan assets

would not have material effect on the financial condition or operating performance of the Company

Revenue Recognition Revenue is generally recognized on sales at the point in time when persuasive

evidence of an arrangement exists the price is fixed or determinable the product has been shipped and

there is reasonable assurance of collection of the sales proceeds The Company generally obtains purchase

authorizations from its customers for specified amount of product at specified price with specified delivery

terms Asignificant portion of the Companys equipment sales represents equipment produced in the Companys

plants under short-term contracts for specific customer project or equipment designed to meet customers

specific requirements Certain contracts include terms and conditions through which the Company recognizes

revenues upon completion of equipment production which is subsequently stored at the Companys plant

at the customers request In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104 revenue is recorded on such

contracts upon the customers assumption of title and risk of ownership and when collectability is reasonably

assured In addition there must be fixed schedule of delivery of the goods consistent with the customers

business practices the Company must not have retained any specific performance obligations such that the

earnings process is not complete and the goods must have been segregated from the Companys inventory

The Company has certain sales accounted for as multiple-element arrangements whereby related revenue

on each product is recognized when it is shipped and the related service revenue is recognized when the

service is performed The Company evaluates sales with multiple deliverable elements such as an agreement

to deliver equipment and related installation services to determine whether revenue related to individual

elements should be recognized separately or as combined unit In addition to the previously mentioned

general revenue recognition criteria the Company only recognizes revenue on individual delivered elements

when there is objective and reliable evidence that the delivered element has determinable value to the

customer on standalone basis and there is no right of return

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets In accordance with SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets SEAS 142 we classify intangible assets into three categories intangible assets with definite

lives subject to amortization intangible assets with indefinite lives not subject to amortization and

goodwill We test intangible assets with definite lives for impairment if conditions exist that indicate the carrying

value may not be recoverable Such conditions may include an economic downturn in geographic market or

change in the assessment of future operations We record an impairment charge when the carrying value of

the definite lived intangible asset is not recoverable by the cash flows generated from the use of the asset

Intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are not amortized We test these intangible assets and

goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that such

intangible assets or goodwill might be impaired We perform our impairment tests of goodwill at our reporting

unit level The Companys reporting units are defined as its subsidiaries because each is legal entity that

is managed separately and manufactures and distributes distinct product lines Such impairment tests for

goodwill include comparing the fair value of the respective reporting unit with its carrying value including

goodwill We use variety of methodologies in conducting these impairment tests including discounted cash

flow analyses and market analyses When the fair value is less than the carrying value of the intangible assets

or the reporting unit we record an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of the assets to fair value

We determine the useful lives of our identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts and

circumstances related to each intangible asset Factors we consider when determining useful lives include

the contractual term of any agreement the history of the asset the Companys long-term strategy for the

use of the asset any laws or other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset and other

economic factors including competition and specific market conditions Intangible assets that are deemed to

have definite lives are amortized generally on straight-line basis over their useful lives ranging from to

15 years

42



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

Income Taxes Income taxes are based on pre-tax financial accounting income Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases

of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts The Company periodically assesses the need to establish

valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets to the extent the Company no longer believes it is more

likely than not that the tax assets will be fully utilized The major circumstance that affects the Companys
valuation allowance is each subsidiarys ability to utilize any available state net operating loss carryforwards

If the subsidiaries that generated the loss carryforwards generate higher than expected future income the

valuation allowance will decrease If these subsidiaries generate future losses the valuation allowance may
increase

In accordance with FASB Interpretation 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation

of FASB Statement 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 the Company evaluates each of its

tax positions to determine whether it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon

examination based upon the technical merits of the position Atax position that meets the more-likely-than-not

recognition threshold is subject to measurement assessment to determine the amount of benefit recognized

in the consolidated statements of operations and the appropriate reserve to establish if any If tax position

does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold tax reserve is established and no benefit is

recognized While it is often difficult to predict final outcome or timing of resolution of any particular tax matter

the Company believes its reserve for uncertain tax positions is properly recorded pursuant to the recognition

and measurement provisions of FIN 48

Stock-based Compensation The Company currently has two types of stock-based compensation plans in

effect for its employees and directors The Companys stock option plans have been in effect for number of

years and its stock incentive plan was put in place during 2006 These plans are more fully described in Note

14 to the consolidated financial statements Restricted stock units RSUs awarded under the Companys
stock incentive plan are granted shortly after the end of each year and are based upon the performance of the

Company and its individual subsidiaries RSUs can be earned for performance in each of the years from 2006

through 2010 with additional RSUs available based upon cumulative five-year performance The Company
estimates the number of shares that will be granted for the most recent fiscal year and the five-year cumulative

performance based on actual and expected future operating results The compensation expense for RSUs

expected to be granted for the most recent fiscal year and the cumulative five-year based awards is calculated

using the fair value of the Company stock at each period end and is adjusted to the fair value as of each future

period end until granted Generally each award will vest at the end of five years from the date of grant or at

time the recipient retires after reaching age 65 if earlier Estimated forfeitures are based upon the expected

turnover rates of the employees receiving awards under the plan The fair value of stock options is estimated

using the Black-Scholes method

Fair Value For cash and cash equivalents trade receivables other receivables revolving credit loans

accounts payable customer deposits and accrued liabilities the carrying amount approximates the fair value

because of the short-term nature of those instruments Investments are carried at their fair value based on

quoted market prices for identical or similar assets or where no quoted prices exist other observable inputs

for the asset All of the investments held by the Company at December 31 2008 and 2007 are classified as

Level or Level under the SFAS 157 hierarchy

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Recent Accounting Pronouncements in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Statements contained anywhere in this Annual Report that

are not limited to historical information are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of

Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 including

without limitation statements regarding

execution of the Companys growth and operation strategy

compliance with covenants in the Companys credit facilities

liquidity and capital expenditures

sufficiency of working capital cash flows and available capacity under the Companys credit facilities

government funding and growth of highway construction and commercial projects

taxes or usage fees

financing plans

industry trends

pricing and availability of oil

pricing and availability of steel

pricing of scrap metal

condition of the economy
the success of new product lines

plans for technological innovation

ability to secure adequate or timely replacement of financing to repay our lenders

compliance with government regulations

compliance with manufacturing or delivery timetables

forecasting of results

general economic trends and political uncertainty

integration of acquisitions

presence in the international marketplace

suitability of our current facilities

future payment of dividends

competition in our business segments

product liability
and other claims

protection of proprietary technology

future fillings of backlogs

employees

tax assets

the impact of account changes

the effect of increased international sales on our backlog

critical account policies

ability to satisfy contingencies

contributions to retirement plans

supply of raw materials and

inventory

These forward-looking statements are based largely on managements expectations which are subject to

number of known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors discussed in this report and in documents

filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission which may cause actual results financial

or otherwise to be materially different from those anticipated expressed or implied by the forward-looking

statements All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information available to

the Company on the date hereof and the Company assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking

statements to reflect future events or circumstances You can identify these statements by forward-looking

words such as expect believe goal plan intend estimate may will and similar expressions

44



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONTINUED

In addition to the risks and uncertainties identified elsewhere herein and in documents filed by the Company
with the Securities and Exchange Commission the following factors should be carefully considered when

evaluating the Companys business and future prospects changes or delays in highway funding rising interest

rates changes in oil prices changes in steel prices changes in the general economy unexpected capital

expenditures and decreases in liquidity the timing of large contracts production capacity general business

conditions in the industry non-compliance with covenants in the Companys credit facilities demand for the

Companys products and those other factors listed from time to time in the Companys reports filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission Certain of the risks uncertainties and other factors discussed or noted

above are more fully described in the section entitled Business Risk Factors in the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008
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ASTEC INDUSTRIES INC
MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT REPORT

The management of Astec Industries Inc the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company The Companys internal control system is

designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Companys management and board of directors regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness

of all internal control systems no matter how well designed Therefore even those systems determined to be

effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and presentation of financial

statements Furthermore projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of change in circumstances or conditions

In order to ensure that the Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective management

regularly assesses such controls and did so most recently as of December 31 2008 This assessment was
based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this

assessment management believes the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2008 Ernst Young LLP the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

has issued an attestation report on the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31
2008
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders

Astec Industries Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Astec Industries Inc as of December 31

2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows

for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well

as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of Astec Industries Inc at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December31 2008 in conformity

with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-retirement

Plans in 2006

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Astec Industries Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

Chattanooga Tennessee

February 25 2009
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders

Astec Industries Inc

We have audited Astec Industries Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Astec Industries Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Assessment

Report Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting

based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and
fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures

of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Astec Industries Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Astec Industries Inc as of December 31 2008 and 2007

and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31 2008 and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

hw7.LLP
Chattanooga Tennessee

February 25 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables less allowance for doubtful accounts of

$1496000 in 2008 and $1713000 in 2007

Other receivables

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Deferred income tax assets

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment net

Investments

Goodwill

Other long-term assets

Total other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities

Revolving credit loans

Accounts payable

Customer deposits

Accrued product warranty

Accrued payroll and related liabilities

Accrued loss reserves

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Total other liabilities

Total liabilities

Minority interest

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock authorized 4000000 shares of

$1.00 par value none issued

Common stock authorized 40000000 shares of

$20 par value issued and outstanding

22508332 in 2008 and 22299125 in 2007

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss

Company shares held by SERP at cost

Retained earnings

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31

2008 2007

9673542 34636472

71629778

3530975

285817262

12079943

10700767

1666821

84197596

3289200
210818628

6420092

8864181

505471

395099088 348731640

169129628 141527620

9911504 18528745

29658550 26415979

9013686 7365533

48583740 52310257

612812456 542569517

3426978 --

51052764 54840478

41385512 37751174

10050225 7826820

10553393 12556033

3302650 2858854

24064621 28059694

143836143 143893053

13064912 8361165

15877581 12842785

28942493 21203950

172778636 165097003

807803 883410

4501666 4459825

121968255 114255803

2798636 5186045

1966178 1705249
317520910 254392680

439226017 376589104

612812456 542569517
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross
profit

Selling general and administrative expenses

Research and development expenses

Income from operations

Other income

Interest expense

Interest income

Other income expense net

Income before income taxes and minority interest

Income taxes

Income before minority interest

Minority interest

Net income

Earnings per Common Share

Net income

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding

Basic

Diluted

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31

.II 2007 2006

973700191 869025354 710606813

739842231 659247203 542319968

233857960 209778151 168286845

122620842 107600243 94383111

18921232 15449493 13560572

92315886 86728415 60343162

851096 852994 1671852

887600 2733224 1469485

5709075 202263 167157

98061465 88406382 60307952

34766566 31398049 20637741

63294899 57008333 39670211

166669 211225 82368

63128230 56797108 39587843

2.83 2.59 1.85

2.80 2.53 1.81

22287554 21967985 21428738

22585775 22444866 21917123
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities

Depreciation

Amortization

Provision for doubtful accounts

Provision for inventory reserves

Provision for warranty

Deferred compensation benefit provision

Deferred income tax provision

Gain loss on disposition of fixed assets

Gain on sale of available for sale securities

Tax benefit from stock option exercises

Purchase of trading securities net

Stock-based compensation

Minority interest

Increase decrease in net of amounts acquired

Trade and other receivables

Notes receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Other assets

Increase decrease in net of amounts acquired

Accounts payable

Customer deposits

Accrued product warranty

Income taxes payable

Accrued retirement benefit costs

Self insurance loss reserves

Other accrued liabilities

Other

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Peterson Pacific Corp net of $1701715

cash acquired

Purchase of DilIman Equipment Inc and Double

Investment Inc net of $4066017 cash acquired

Purchase of 0-Pave Pty Ltd assets

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Expenditures for property and equipment

Sale purchase of available for sale securities

Cash from sale acquisition of minority shares

Net cash used by investing activities

2008 2007 2006

63128230

16656505

686383

320469

4142878

18316668

501744

2551974

22696
6195145

636613

1623348
2383930

166669

10925818

70789928

3818525
625398

3909243
401815

15955337

2298021
799543

959391

4352309
924930

56797108

14576053

504900

512816

3271024

12496960

452152

99766

67259

4388696
7868131
1557384

211225

10844976

258500

42594820

402340

36112

6823822

14912509

12454573
5877019

966057
439438

6235730
206201

39587843

11507298

383793

374748

3721613

11712690

325159

1014445

74637

2955103
445329
974826

82368

13955658

89993
26815069

1555495

417318

2976010

10645675

10168800
1193460

1425494
3478566
12601026

44407

10037810 45744161 39024163

7137 19655696 --

649321 -- --

1797083 -- --

276089 186139 1247475

39932447 38451380 30879114

16500000 10304855 --

1143 34931 93292

41438376 68260723 29538347

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED

Year Ended December 31

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Tax benefit from stock option exercise

Net borrowings under revolving line of credit

Principal repayments of notes payable assumed
in business combinations

Sale purchase of company shares by
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan net

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents end of year

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the year for

Interest

Income taxes net of refunds

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2007 2006

4669132 13632057 9970201

636613 4388696 2955103
3426978 -- --

91 2091 7500000 --

96311 1414105 54092

7624321 11934858 12979396

1186685 340048 184780
24962930 10241656 22280432

34636472 44878128 22597696

9673542 34636472 44878128

787394 493657 895650

38106367 23419302 18437778
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Common Stock

Shares Amount

Accumulated

Additional Other

Paid-in Comprehensive

Capital Income Loss

Net income

Other comprehensive income loss

Minimum pension liability adjustment

net of income taxes of $762211

Foreign currency

translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS 158

net of income taxes of $368700

Stock-based compensation

Exercise of stock options including ax benefit

Sale purchase of Company stock held by SERP net

$1 894507 $158073454 $242742045

39587843 3958784

28085

802981

4006571

596289

974821

1292530

186588 5409

Balance December 31 2006

Net income

Other comprehensive income loss

Change in unrecognized pension and post

retirement cost net of income taxes of $291949

Foreign currency

translation adjustments

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale investment

securities net of income taxes of $558209

Comprehensive income

FIN 48 adjustment

Stock-based compensation

Exercise of stock options including tax benefit

Sale purchase of Company stock held by SERP net

506 1556878

120044 17900709

1038259

$2081 095 $197661297 $2961 6569

56797108 5679710

49772

31 267C

924641

594968c

65725 657

5573t

80207

14141

Balance December 31 2007

Net income

Other comprehensive income loss

Change in unrecognized pension and post

retirement cost net of income taxes of $1207655

Foreign currency

translation adjustments

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale investment

securities net of income taxes of $2887583

Reclassification adjustment for gains

included in net income net of income

taxes of $2329374

Comprehensive income

Stock-based compensation

Exercise of stock options including tax benefit

Sale purchase of Company stock held
by SERP net

22299125 $4459825 $114255803 5186045 $1705249 $254392680 $3765891l

63128230 631282

1996444 19964

6912883 69128

4790417 47904

38657

551435

23839

53057

196C

Balance December 31 2005

Company
Shares Held Retained

by SERP Earnings

Total

SharehoIder

Equity

21177352 $4235470 $79722952 2604676

1280857

802986

596289

2016

517006

403 974423

103402 12821902

240680

21696374 $4339275 $93759957 2486258

497729

3126704

924646

2532

600219

375846

3865771

5206 1041 2382889

204001 40800 5264945

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

64618 260929

Balance December 31 2008 22508332 $4501666 $121968255 $2798636 $1966178 $317520910 $439226C
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Astec Industries Inc and

its domestic and foreign subsidiaries The Companys significant wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiaries at

December 31 2008 are as follows

American Augers Inc Astec Australia Pty Ltd

Astec Inc Astec Insurance Company

Astec Underground Inc f/k/a Trencor Inc Astec Mobile Screens Inc f/kla Production Engineered Products Inc

Breaker Technology Inc Breaker Technology Ltd

Carlson Paving Products Inc CEI Enterprises Inc

Heatec Inc Johnson Crushers International Inc

Kolberg-Pioneer Inc Osborn Engineered Products SA Pty Ltd 92% owned

Peterson Pacific Corp Roadtec Inc

Telsmith Inc

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect

the amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and accompanying notes Actual results could

differ from those estimates

Foreign Currency Translation Subsidiaries located in Australia Canada and South Africa operate primarily

using local functional currency Accordingly assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated using

exchange rates in effect at the end of the period and revenues and costs are translated using average exchange

rates for the period The resulting adjustments are presented as separate component of accumulated other

comprehensive income

Fair Value of Financial Instruments For cash and cash equivalents trade receivables other receivables

revolving debt accounts payable customer deposits and accrued liabilities the carrying amount approximates

the fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments Investments are carried at their fair

value based on quoted market prices for identical or similar assets or where no quoted prices exist other

observable inputs for the asset All of the investments held by the Company at December 31 2008 and 2007

are classified as Level or Level under the SFAS 157 hierarchy

Cash and Cash Equivalents All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less

when purchased are considered to be cash and cash equivalents

Investments Investments consist primarily of investment-grade marketable securities Available-for-sale

securities are recorded at fair value and unrealized holding gains and losses are recorded net of tax as

separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income Unrealized gains and losses are charged

against net income when change in fair value is determined to be other than temporary Trading securities

are carried at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses included in net income Realized gains and

losses are accounted for on the specific identification method Purchases and sales are recorded on trade

date basis Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of acquisition

and reevaluates such determination at each balance sheet date

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No 157 Fair Value Measurements

SFAS 157 effective January 2008 As required by SFAS No 157 financial assets and liabilities are

categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value

SFAS No 157 classifies the inputs used to measure the fair value into the following hierarchy

Level Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or

unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets

that are not active or

inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Level Inputs reflect managements best estimate of what market participants would

use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date Consideration is

given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the

inputs to the model

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant

to the fair value measurement

Concentration of Credit Risk The Company sells products to wide variety of customers Accounts

receivable are carried at their outstanding principal amounts less an allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company extends credit to its customers based on an evaluation of the customers financial condition

generally without requiring collateral Credit risk is driven by conditions within the economy and the industry

and is principally dependent on each customers financial condition To minimize credit risk the Company
monitors credit levels and financial conditions of customers on continuing basis The Company maintains

an allowance for doubtful accounts at level which management believes is sufficient to cover potential credit

losses Amounts are deemed past due when they exceed the payment terms agreed to by the customer in the

sales contract Past due amounts are charged off when reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted

and the amounts are deemed uncollectable by management As of December 31 2008 concentrations of

credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the wide variety of customers

Inventories Inventory costs include materials labor and overhead Inventories excluding used equipment

are stated at the lower of first-in first-out cost or market Used equipment inventories are stated at the lower

of specific unit cost or market

When inventory becomes obsolete the Company establishes an allowance to reduce the carrying value to net

realizable value based on estimates assumptions and judgments made from the information available at that

time Abnormal amounts of idle facility expense freight handling cost and wasted materials are recognized

as current period charges

Property and Equipment Property and equipment is stated at cost Depreciation is calculated for financial

reporting purposes using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows

airplanes 40 years buildings 40 years and equipment to 10 years Both accelerated and straight-line

methods are used for tax compliance purposes Routine repair and maintenance costs and planned major

maintenance are expensed when incurred

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets In accordance with SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets SFAS 142 the Company classifies intangible assets into three categories intangible assets

with definite lives subject to amortization intangible assets with indefinite lives not subject to amortization

and goodwill The Company tests intangible assets with definite lives for impairment if conditions exist that

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable Such conditions may include an economic downturn in

geographic market or change in the assessment of future operations An impairment charge is recorded

when the carrying value of the definite lived intangible asset is not recoverable by the future undiscounted

cash flows generated from the use of the asset

Intangible assets with indefinite lives including goodwill are not amortized The Company tests these intangible

assets and goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that

such intangible assets or goodwill might be impaired The Company performs impairment tests of goodwill

at the reporting unit level and of other indefinite lived intangible assets at the asset level The Companys
reporting units are defined as its subsidiaries because each is legal entity that is managed separately and

manufactures and distributes distinct product lines Such impairment tests for goodwill include comparing the

fair value of the respective reporting unit with its carrying value including goodwill variety of methodologies

are used in conducting these impairment tests including discounted cash flow analyses and market analyses

When the fair value is less than the carrying value of the intangible assets or the reporting unit an impairment

charge is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the assets to fair value

The Company determines the useful lives of identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts

and circumstances related to each intangible asset Factors considered when determining useful lives include

the contractual term of any agreement the history of the asset the Companys long-term strategy for the

use of the asset any laws or other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset and other

economic factors including competition and specific market conditions Intangible assets that are deemed to
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

have definite lives are amortized generally on straight-line basis over their useful lives ranging from to

15 years

Impairment of Long-lived Assets In the event that facts and circumstances indicate the carrying amounts

of long-lived assets may be impaired an evaluation of recoverability is performed If an evaluation is required

the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset would be compared to the carrying

amount for each asset to determine if writedown is required If this review indicates that the assets will not

be recoverable the carrying value of the Companys assets would be reduced to their estimated market value

Market value is estimated using discounted cash flows prices for similar assets or other valuation techniques

Self-Insurance Reserves The Company retains the risk for portion of its workers compensation claims and

general liability
claims by way of captive insurance company Astec Insurance Company Astec Insurance

or the captive Astec Insurance is incorporated under the laws of the state of Vermont The objectives

of Astec Insurance are to improve control over and reduce loss costs to improve focus on risk reduction

with development of program structure which rewards proactive loss control and to ensure management

participation in the defense and settlement process for claims

For general liability claims the captive is liable for the first $1 million per occurrence and $2.5 million per year

in the aggregate The Company carries general liability excess liability
and umbrella policies for claims in

excess of those covered by the captive

For workers compensation claims the captive is liable for the first $350000 per occurrence and $4.0 million

per year in the aggregate The Company utilizes third party administrator for workers compensation claims

administration and carries insurance coverage for claims liabilities in excess of amounts covered by the

captive

The financial statements of the captive are consolidated into the financial statements of the Company The

short-term and long-term reserves for claims and potential claims related to general liability and workers

compensation under the captive are included in Accrued Loss Reserves or Other Long-Term Liabilities

respectively in the consolidated balance sheets depending on the expected timing of future payments The

undiscounted reserves are actuarially determined to cover the ultimate cost of each claim based on the

Companys evaluation of the type and severity of individual claims and historical information primarily its own

claims experience along with assumptions about future events Changes in assumptions as well as changes

in actual experience could cause these estimates to change in the future However the Company does not

believe it is reasonably likely that the reserve level will materially change in the future

At all but one of the Companys domestic manufacturing subsidiaries the Company is self-insured for health

and prescription claims under its Group Health Insurance Plan The Company carries reinsurance coverage

to limit its exposure for individual health claims above certain limits Third parties administer health claims and

prescription medication claims The Company maintains reserve for the self-insured health and prescription

plans which is included in accrued loss reserves on the Companys consolidated balance sheets This reserve

includes both unpaid claims and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported based on historical claims and

payment experience Historically the reserves have been sufficient to provide for claims payments Changes

in actual claims experience or payment patterns could cause the reserve to change but the Company does

not believe it is reasonably likely that the reserve level will materially change in the near future

The remaining U.S subsidiary is covered under fully insured group health plan Employees of the Companys

foreign subsidiaries are insured under health plans in accordance with their local governmental requirements

No reserves are necessary for these fully insured health plans

Revenue Recognition Revenue is generally recognized on sales at the point in time when persuasive

evidence of an arrangement exists the price is fixed or determinable the product has been shipped and

there is reasonable assurance of collection of the sales proceeds The Company generally obtains purchase

authorizations from its customers for specified amount of product at specified price with specified

delivery terms significant portion of the Companys equipment sales represents equipment produced in

the Companys plants under short-term contracts for specific customer project or equipment designed to

meet customers specific requirements Certain contracts include terms and conditions through which the

Company recognizes revenues upon completion of equipment production which is subsequently stored at the

Companys plant at the customers request In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue

Recognition SAB 104 revenue is recorded on such contracts upon the customers assumption of title and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

risk of ownership and when collectability is reasonably assured In addition there must be fixed schedule of

delivery of the goods consistent with the customers business practices the Company must not have retained

any specific performance obligations such that the earnings process is not complete and the goods must have

been segregated from the Companys inventory

The Company has certain sales accounted for as multiple-element arrangements whereby related revenue

on each product is recognized when it is shipped and the related service revenue is recognized when the

service is performed The Company evaluates sales with multiple deliverable elements such as an agreement

to deliver equipment and related installation services to determine whether revenue related to individual

elements should be recognized separately or as combined unit In addition to the previously mentioned

general revenue recognition criteria the Company only recognizes revenue on individual delivered elements

when there is objective and reliable evidence that the delivered element has determinable value to the

customer on standalone basis and there is no right of return

Advertising Expense The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred The Company incurred approximately

$3603000 $3334000 and $2794000 in advertising costs during 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively which

is included in selling general and administrative expenses

Income Taxes Income taxes are based on pre-tax financial accounting income Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases

of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts The Company periodically assesses the need to establish

valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets to the extent the Company no longer believes it is more

likely than not that the tax assets will be
fully

utilized The major circumstance that affects the Companys
valuation allowance is each subsidiarys ability to utilize any available state net operating loss carryforwards

If the subsidiaries that generated the loss carryforwards generate higher than expected future income the

valuation allowance will decrease If these subsidiaries generate future losses the valuation allowance may
increase

In accordance with FASB Interpretation 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation

of FASB Statement 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 the Company evaluates tax position to

determine whether it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination based upon

the technical merits of the position tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is

subject to measurement assessment to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the Consolidated

Statements of Operations and the appropriate reserve to establish if any If tax position does not meet the

more-likely-than-not recognition threshold tax reserve is established and no benefit is recognized The

Company is continually audited by U.S federal and state as well as foreign tax authorities While it is often

difficult to predict final outcome or timing of resolution of any particular tax matter the Company believes

its reserve for uncertain tax positions is properly recorded pursuant to the recognition and measurement

provisions of FIN 48

Product Warranty Reserve The Company accrues for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time

revenue is recognized We evaluate our warranty obligations by product line or model based on historical

warranty claims experience For machines our standard product warranty terms generally include post-sales

support and repairs of products at no additional charge for periods ranging from three months to one year or

up to specified number of hours of operation For parts from our component suppliers we rely on the original

manufacturers warranty that accompanies those parts and make no additional provision for warranty claims

Generally our fabricated parts are not covered by specific warranty terms Although failure of fabricated parts

due to material or workmanship is rare if it occurs our policy is to replace fabricated parts at no additional

charge

The Company engages in extensive product quality programs and processes including actively monitoring

and evaluating the quality of our component suppliers Estimated warranty obligation is based upon warranty

terms product failure rates repair costs and current period machine shipments If actual product failure rates

repair costs service delivery costs or post-sales support costs differ from our estimates revisions to the

estimated warranty liability would be required

Pension and Post-retirement Benefits The determination of obligations and expenses under the Companys

pension and post-retirement benefit plans is dependent on the Companys selection of certain assumptions

used by the independent actuaries in calculating such amounts Those assumptions are described in

Note 11 Pension and Post-retirement Benefits and include among others the discount rate expected
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return on plan assets and the expected rates of increase in health care costs In accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States actual results that differ from assumptions are accumulated

and amortized over future periods and therefore generally affect the recognized expense in such periods

Significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions used may materially

affect the pension and post-retirement obligations and future expenses

Stock-based Compensation The Company currently has two types of stock-based compensation plans in

effect for its employees and directors The Companys stock option plans have been in effect for number

of years and its stock incentive plan was put in place during 2006 These plans are more fully described

in Note 14 Shareholders Equity Effective January 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 123R Share Based Payment SFAS 123R using the modified prospective

method SFAS 123R requires the recognition of the cost of employee services received in exchange for an

award of equity instruments in the financial statements and is measured based on the grant date calculated

fair value of the award SFAS 123R also requires stock-based compensation expense to be recognized over

the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award the vesting

period Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 2006 the Company accounted for stock-based

compensation plans in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 APB
25 and applied the disclosure only provision of SFAS 123 Under APB 25 generally no compensation

expense was recorded when the terms of the award were fixed and the exercise price of the employee stock

option equaled or exceeded the market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant The Company did

not record compensation expense for option awards in periods prior to January 2006

Restricted stock units RSUs awarded under the Companys stock incentive plan are granted shortly after

the end of each year and are based upon the performance of the Company and its individual subsidiaries

RSUs can be earned for performance in each of the years from 2006 through 2010 with additional RSUs

available based upon cumulative five-year performance The Company estimates the number of shares that

will be granted for the most recent fiscal year end and the five-year cumulative performance based on actual

and expected future operating results The compensation expense for RSUs expected to be granted for the

most recent fiscal year and the cumulative five-year based awards is calculated using the fair value of the

Company stock at each period end and is adjusted to the fair value as of each future period end until granted

All unexercised options outstanding were vested prior to December 31 2006 therefore no stock option

expense was recorded in 2008 or 2007 During 2006 the Company recorded compensation expense related

to stock options that reduced income from operations by $381000 decreased the provision for income taxes

by $83000 and decreased net income by $298000 This resulted in $01 reduction in both basic and fully

diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31 2006

Earnings Per Share Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 128 Earnings per Share SFAS 128 Basic earnings per share is based

on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and diluted earnings per share includes

potential dilutive effects of options warrants and convertible securities

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share

Year Ended December 31

.ZsIsl 2007 2006

Numerator

Net income 63128230 56797108 39587843

Denominator

Denominator for basic earnings per share 22287554 21967985 21428738

Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock options and restricted stock units 208152 382006 371477

Supplemental executive retirement plan 90069 94875 116908

Denominator for diluted earnings per share 22585775 22444866 21917123

Net income

Basic 2.83 2.59 1.85

Diluted 2.80 2.53 1.81
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For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2006 approximately 20000 and 169000 options respectively

were antidilutive and were not included in the diluted EPS computation For the year ended December 31 2007

there were no antidilutive options

Derivatives and Hedging Activities SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities SFAS 133 which was amended by SEAS Nos 137 138 and 161 requires the Company to

recognize all derivatives in the balance sheet at fair value Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to

fair value through income If the derivative is hedge depending on the nature of the hedge changes in the fair

value of derivatives are either offset against the change in fair value of assets liabilities or firm commitments

through income or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in income

The ineffective portion of derivatives change in fair value is immediately recognized in income From time to

time the Companys foreign subsidiaries enter into foreign currency exchange contracts to mitigate exposure

to fluctuation in currency exchange rates There were no significant foreign exchange contracts outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 There were no derivatives that qualified for hedge accounting at December 31

2008 and 2007

Shipping and Handling Fees and Cost The Company records revenues earned for shipping and handling as

revenue while the cost of shipping and handling is classified as cost of goods sold

Litigation Contingencies In the normal course of business in the industry the Company is named as

defendant in number of legal proceedings associated with product liability
and other matters The Company

does not believe it is party to any legal proceedings that will have materially adverse effect on the consolidated

financial position It is possible however that future results of operations for any particular quarterly or annual

period could be materially affected by changes in assumptions related to these proceedings

As discussed in Note 13 Contingent Matters as of December 31 2008 the Company has accrued its best

estimate of the probable cost for the resolution of these claims This estimate has been developed in consultation

with outside counsel that is handling the defense in these matters and is based upon combination of litigation

and settlement strategies Certain
litigation

is being addressed before juries in states where past jury awards

have been significant To the extent additional information arises or strategies change it is possible that the

Companys best estimate of the probable liability in these matters may change

Business Combinations In accordance with SFAS No 141 Business Combinations we account for all

business combinations by the purchase method Furthermore we recognize intangible assets apart from

goodwill if they arise from contractual or legal rights or if they are separable from goodwill

Recent Accounting Pronouncements In November 2004 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 151 Inventory Costs SFAS 151 SEAS 151 amends the guidance in Accounting Research

Bulletin No 43 Chapter Inventory Pricing to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense freight

handling costs and wasted materials spoilage should be recognized as current-period charges and requires

the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on normal capacity of the production facilities

The Company adopted SFAS 151 on January 2006 The adoption did not have significant impact on the

Companys consolidated financial statements

In May 2005 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 154 Accounting Changes and

Error Corrections SFAS 154 SEAS 154 replaces APB 20 Accounting Changes and SEAS Reporting

Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements and establishes retrospective application as the required

method for reporting change in accounting principle The reporting of correction of an error by restating

previously issued financial statements is also addressed The Company adopted SEAS 154 on January 2006

The adoption did not have significant impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

As previously discussed the Company adopted SEAS 123R related to share-based payments See Note 14

Shareholders Equity for further details

In June 2006 the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Talk Force EITF Issue No 06-3 How Taxes Collected from

Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement That Is

Gross Versus Net Presentation This statement allows companies to present in their statements of operations

any taxes assessed by governmental authority that are directly imposed on revenue-producing transactions

between seller and customer such as sales use value-added and some excise taxes on either gross

included in revenue and costs or net excluded from revenue basis The Company presents these transactions

on net basis and therefore the adoption of this standard beginning January 2007 had no impact on the

Companys financial statements
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In July2006 the FASB issued FASB Interpretation 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation

of FASB Statement 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 FIN 48 defines the criteria that an income tax

position would have to meet for some or all of the benefit of that position to be recognized in an entitys financial

statements FIN 48 requires that the cumulative effect of applying its provisions be reported as an adjustment

to retained earnings at the beginning of the period in which it is adopted FIN 48 was effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2006 and the Company began applying its provisions effective January 2007

The impact of adopting this statement is detailed in Note 12 Income Taxes

In September 2006 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value

Measurements SFAS 157 which provides guidance on how to measure assets and liabilities that use fair

value SFAS 157 applies whenever another US GAAP standard requires or permits assets or liabilities to be

measured at fair value but does not expand the use of fair value to any new circumstances This standard also

requires additional disclosures in both annual and quarterly reports Portions of SFAS 157 were effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 and the Company began applying

those provisions effective January 2008 The adoption of this statement did not have significant impact on

the Companys financial statements In February 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position No 157-2 FSP No

157-2 which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 one year for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial

liabilities except those recognized at fair value in the financial statements or recurring basis The Company
will adopt the remaining provisions of SFAS 157 as of January 2009 The adoption of these remaining provisions

is not expected to have significant impact on the Companys financial statements

In September 2006 the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No 108 Considering the Effects of Prior Year

Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements SAB 108 SAB 108 was

issued in order to eliminate the diversity of practice in how public companies quantify misstatements of financial

statements including misstatements that were not material to prior years financial statements The Company

began applying the provisions of SAB 108 in connection with the preparation of its annual financial statements

for the year ended December 31 2006 The adoption of this bulletin had no impact on the Companys financial

statements

In September 2006 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 158 Employers Accounting

for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans An Amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88 106

and 32R SFAS 158 SFAS 158 requires companies to recognize as an asset or liability the overfunded or

underfunded status of defined pension and other postretirement benefit plans recognize changes in the funded

status through other comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur measure the funded status

of defined pension and other post-retirement benefit plans as of the date of the companys fiscal year-end and

provide enhanced disclosures The Company began applying the provisions of SFAS 158 in connection with the

preparation of its annual financial statements for the year ended December 31 2006 See Note 11 Pension and

Post-retirement Benefits for further information on the impact of adoption

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141 revised 2007
Business Combinations SFAS 141R and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements SFAS 160 SFAS 141 establishes

principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the

identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the

goodwill acquired This standard also establishes disclosure requirements which will enable users to evaluate

the nature and financial effects of the business combination SFAS 160 clarifies that noncontrolling interest

in subsidiary should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements Consolidated net income

should include the net income for both the parent and the noncontrolling interest with disclosure of both

amounts on the consolidated statement of income The calculation of earnings per share will continue to be

based on income amounts attributable to the parent Both statements will be effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and the Company will begin applying its provisions

effective January 2009 on any new acquisition activity

In March 2008 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 161 Disclosures about

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161
The objective of this statement is to require enhanced disclosures about an entitys derivative and hedging

activities and to improve the transparency of financial reporting Entities are required to provide enhanced

disclosures about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments how derivative instruments and

related hedged items are accounted for under Statement No 133 and its related interpretations and how

derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial performance
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and cash flows This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods

beginning after November 15 2008 with early application encouraged This statement encourages but

does not require comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption The Company will adopt the

standard as of January 2009 The adoption of SFAS No 161 is not expected to have significant impact

on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In April 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position No 142-3 Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets

FSP 142-3 FSP 142-3 amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension

assumptions used to determine the useful life of recognized intangible asset under SFAS No 142 Goodwill

and Other Intangible Assets The intent of FSP 142-3 is to improve the consistency between the useful life

of recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure

the fair value of the asset under SFAS No 141R and other applicable accounting literature FSP 142-3 is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and must be

applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date The Company will begin applying

the provisions of the FSP on January 2009 for any new intangible assets acquired

In May 2008 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 162 Hierarchy of Generally

Accepted Accounting Principles SFAS 162 This statement is intended to improve financial reporting by

identifying consistent framework or hierarchy for selecting accounting principles to be used in preparing

financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S GAAP This

statement was effective November 15 2008 The Companys adoption of SFAS 162 on the effective date did

not have significant impact on its consolidated financial statements

In December 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position No 32R-1 Employers Disclosures about Postretirement

Benefit Plan Assets This FSP amends FASB Statement No 132 Revised 2003 Employers Disclosures

about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits to provide guidance on an employers disclosures about

plan assets of defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan This FSP is effective for fiscal years

ending after December 15 2009 and the Company will begin applying its provisions with its December 31
2009 consolidated financial statements

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following

December 31

Is1 2007

Raw materials and parts 116253800 96718726

Work-in-process 57776229 54127870

Finished goods 99806732 51 027368

Used equipment 11980501 8944664

Total 285817262 210818628

The above inventory amounts are net of reserves totaling $13157000 and $11548000 in 2008 and 2007

respectively
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Investments

The Companys investments consist of the following

Gross Gross Fair Value

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Net Carrying

Cost Gains Losses Amount

December 31 2008

Trading equity securities 2874680 -- 422578 2452102

Trading debt securities 8686084 48255 259739 8474600

Total $11560764 48255 682317 10926702

December 31 2007

Available-for-sale equity securities $10305000 -- 1483000 8822000

Trading equity securities 3011 01 102709 167420 2946301

Trading debt securities 6861 402 49363 1437 6909328

Total $20177414 152072 1651857 18677629

The investments noted above are valued at their estimated fair value based on quoted market prices for

identified or similar assets or where no quoted prices exist other observable inputs for the asset

significant portion of the trading securities are in equity mutual funds and approximate portion of the

Companys liability under the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP an unqualified defined

contribution plan See Note 11 Pension and Post-retirement Benefits for additional information on these

investments and the SERP

Trading debt securities are comprised mainly of marketable debt securities held by Astec Insurance Company
Astec Insurance has an investment strategy that focuses on providing regular and predictable interest income

from diversified portfolio of high-quality fixed income securities At December 31 2008 and 2007 $1015198
and $148884 respectively of trading debt securities was due to mature within twelve months and accordingly

is included in other current assets

Available-for-sale equity securities are comprised of actively traded marketable equity securities with quoted

prices on national markets The available-for-sale equity securities held at December 31 2007 were sold in

the fourth quarter of 2008 and pre-tax realized gain of $6195000 is included in other income for the year

ended December 31 2008

Management reviews several factors to determine whether loss is other than temporary such as the length

of time security is in an unrealized loss position the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost

the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer and the Companys intent and ability to hold the

security for period of time sufficient to allow for anticipated recovery in fair value Management determined

that the gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale equity securities as of December 31 2007 was considered

temporary and therefore the net unrealized holding losses of $1483000 were included in accumulated other

comprehensive income at December 31 2007

As indicated in the table below the Company has determined that its investments at December 31 2008 are

level and level in the fair value hierarchy

Level Level Level Total

Trading equity securities 2452102 -- -- 2452102

Trading debt securities 1464444 7010156 -- 8474600

Total 3916546 $7010156 -- $10926702
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The carrying values of the Companys other financial assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents

trade receivables other receivables revolving credit loans accounts payable customer deposits and accrued

liabilities approximate fair value without being discounted due to the short periods during which these amounts

are outstanding

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

in business combinations SFAS 142 provides that goodwill and certain other intangible assets be tested

for impairment at least annually The Company performs the required valuation procedures each year as of

December 31 after the following years forecasts are submitted and reviewed The valuations performed in

2008 2007 and 2006 indicated no impairment of goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segment for the years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 are as follows

Aggregate Mobile

Asphalt and Mining Asphalt Paving Underground

Group Group Group Group Other Total

BalanceDecember3l2006 $1156818 $16580617 $1646391 -- -- $19383826

Business acquisition -- -- -- -- 5814219 5814219

Foreign currency translation -- 1217934 -- -- -- 1217934

Balance December31 2007 1156818 17798551 1646391 -- 5814219 26415979

Business acquisition 4804143 -- -- -- -- 4804143

Final accounting adjustment

on business combination -- -- -- -- 7137 7137

Foreign currency translation -- 1554435 -- -- -- 554435

Balance December31 2008 $5960961 $16244116 $1646391 -- $5807082 $29658550

64



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Long-lived and Intangible Assets

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets SFAS 144 requires long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment when events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable SFAS 144 also requires

recognition of impairment losses for long-lived assets held and used if the sum of the estimated future

undiscounted cash flows used to test for recoverability is less than the carrying value For the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company concluded that there had been no significant events that

would trigger an impairment review of its long-lived and intangible assets No impairment was recorded in

2008 2007 or 2006

Amortization expense for other intangible assets was $531 857 $356068 and $234961 for 2008 2007 and

2006 respectively Other intangible assets which are included in other long-term assets on the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following at December 31 2008 and 2007

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value

Dec 31 2007 Dec 31 2007 Dec 31 2007 Dec 31 2008 Dec 31 2008 Dec 31 2008

Amortizable assets

Dealer network and

customer relationships 3589000 698233 2890767 4291 619 $1 040790 3250829

Drawings 820000 432599 387401 970000 535079 434921

Trademarks 336000 336000 -- 336000 336000 --

Patents 543000 61071 481929 664946 137755 527191

Non-compete agreement 42233 5068 37165 42233 15204 27029

Total amortizable assets 5330233 1532971 3797262 6304798 2064828 4239970

Non-amortizable assets

Trade names 1348000 -- 1348000 2003000 -- 2003000

Total 6678233 $1532971 5145262 8307798 $2064828 6242970

The increase in gross carrying value of intangible assets during 2008 is mainly attributed to the purchases

of Dillman Equipment Inc and substantially all of the assets of 0-Pave Pty Ltd See Note 18 Business

Combinations for further discussion

Approximate intangible amortization expense for the next five years is expected as follows

2009 $627567 2012 $284137

2010 532565 2013 284137

2011 445855

December 31

2007

103033483

161182644

122.688.5071

Depreciation expense was approximately $16657000 $14576000 and $11507000 for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following

Land land improvements and buildings

Equipment

Less accumulated deoreciation

2008

Total 169129628 141527620

123546867

181200088

135.617.3271
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Leases

The Company leases certain land buildings and equipment for use in its operations under various operating

leases Total rental expense charged to operations under operating leases was approximately $3186000

$2993000 and $2381 000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Minimum rental commitments for all noncancelable operating leases at December 31 2008 are as follows

2009 $1460000
2010 916000

2011 583000

2012 60000
2013 44000
Thereafter 16000

$3079000

Debt

During April 2007 the Company entered into an unsecured credit agreement with Wachovia Bank National

Association Wachovia whereby Wachovia has extended to the Company an unsecured line of credit of up

to $100000000 including sub-limit for letters of credit of upto $15000000 The Wachovia credit agreement

replaced the previous $87500000 secured credit
facility

the Company had in place with General Electric

Capital Corporation and General Electric Capital-Canada

The Wachovia credit facility has an original term of three years which is subject to further extensions as

provided therein Early in 2009 the Company exercised its right to extend the credit facilitys term one

additional year An additional one year extension is available The interest rate for borrowings is function of

the Adjusted LIBOR Rate or Adjusted LIBOR Market Index Rate as defined as elected by the Company plus

margin based upon leverage ratio pricing grid ranging between 0.5% and .5% As of December 31 2008

the applicable margin based upon the leverage ratio pricing grid was equal to 0.5% The unused facility fee is

0.125% The interest rate at December 31 2008 was 0.94% The Wachovia credit facility requires no principal

amortization and interest only payments are due in the case of loans bearing interest at the Adjusted LIBOR

Market Index Rate monthly in arrears and in the case of loans bearing interest at the Adjusted LIBOR Rate at

the end of the applicable interest period The Wachovia credit agreement contains certain financial covenants

including minimum fixed charge coverage ratio minimum tangible net worth and maximum allowed capital

expenditures At December 31 2008 the Company had borrowings outstanding under the credit
facility

of

$3129000 resulting in borrowing availability of $86137000 net of letters of credit of $10734000 The

borrowings are classified as current liabilities as the Company plans to repay the debt within the next twelve

months

The Company was in compliance with the covenants under its credit facility as of December 31 2008

The Companys South African subsidiary Osborn Engineered Products SA Pty Ltd Osborn has available

credit facility of approximately $5978000 ZAR 50000000 to finance short-term working capital needs as

well as to cover the short-term establishment of letter of credit performance guarantees As of December 31

2008 Osborn had $298000 outstanding borrowings under the credit facility at 15% interest and approximately

$1854000 in performance bonds which were guaranteed under the facility The facility is secured by

Osborns buildings and improvements accounts receivable and cash balances and $2000000 letter of

credit issued by the parent Company The portion of the available facility not secured by the $2000000 letter

of credit fluctuates monthly based upon seventy-five percent 75% of Osborns accounts receivable and total

cash balances at the end of the prior month as well as buildings and improvements of $1 983000 As of

December 31 2008 Osborn had available credit under the facility of approximately $3826000 The facility

expires on July 30 2009 and the Company plans to renew the facility prior to expiration There is no charge

for the unused facility
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Product Warranty Reserves

The Company warrants its products against manufacturing defects and performance to specified standards

The warranty period and performance standards vary by market and uses of its products but generally range

from three months to one year or up to specified number of hours of operation The Company estimates the

costs that may be incurred under its warranties and records liability at the time product sales are recorded

The warranty liability is primarily based on historical claim rates nature of claims and the associated costs

Changes in the Companys product warranty liability during 2008 and 2007 are as follows

sI1 2007

Reserve balance at beginning of period 7826820 7183946

Warranty liabilities accrued during the period 18316668 12496960

Warranty liabilities settled during the period 16004036 11854086
Other 89227 --

Reserve balance at end of period 10050225 7826820

10 Accrued Loss Reserves

The Company accrues reserves for losses related to known workers compensation and general liability

claims that have been incurred but not yet paid or are estimated to have been incurred but not yet reported

to the Company The undiscounted reserves are actuarially determined based on the Companys evaluation

of the type and severity of individual claims and historical information primarily its own claim experience

along with assumptions about future events Changes in assumptions as well as changes in actual experi

ence could cause these estimates to change in the future Total accrued loss reserves at December 31 2008

were $9022126 compared to $7878723 at December31 2007 of which $5719476 and $5019869 was

included in other long-term liabilities at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

11 Pension and Post-retirement Benefits

Prior to December 31 2003 all employees of the Companys Kolberg-Pioneer Inc subsidiary were covered

by defined benefit pension plan After December 31 2003 all benefit accruals under the plan ceased and

no new employees could become participants in the plan Benefits paid under this plan are based on years of

service multiplied by monthly amount In addition the Company also sponsors two post-retirement medical

and life insurance plans covering the employees of its Kolberg-Pioneer Inc and Telsmith Inc subsidiaries

and life insurance plan covering retirees of its former Barber-Greene subsidiary During 2008 the Company
terminated the retiree medical plan at Kolberg-Pioneer Inc and completed lump-sum buyout of the retiree life

plans at Kolberg-Pioneer Inc and Barber-Greene Settlement cost of $109014 is included as component of

net periodic benefit cost for 2008 The Companys funding policy for all plans is to make the minimum annual

contributions required by applicable regulations

The Companys investment strategy for the Kolberg-Pioneer Inc pension plan is to earn rate of return

sufficient to match or exceed the long-term growth of pension liabilities The investment policy states that

the Plan Committee in its sole discretion shall determine the allocation of plan assets among the following

four asset classes cash equivalents fixed-income securities domestic equities and international equities

The Company attempts to ensure adequate diversification of the invested assets through investment over

several asset classes investment in portfolio of diversified assets within an asset class or the use of multiple

investment portfolios
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The following provides information regarding benefit obligations plan assets and the funded status of the plans

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

ZIiI 2007 ZsIsl 2007

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 9647937 9986114 764226 986097

Service cost -- -- 46209 44535

Interest cost 606508 564674 60401 41974

Amendments -- -- -- 48221

Settlements -- -- 189548 --

Actuarial gain loss 302102 478204 98084 92426
Benefits paid 436590 424647 313184 264175
Benefit obligation at end of year 10119957 9647937 466188 764226

Accumulated benefit obligation $10119957 9647937 -- --

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 9013126 7817439 -- --

Actual gain loss on plan assets 2356033 823995 -- --

Employer contribution 562048 796339 -- --

Benefits paid 436590 424647 -- --

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 6782551 9013126 -- --

Funded status at end of year 3337406 634811 466188 764226

Amounts recognized in the consolidated

balance sheets

Current liabilities
--

-- 73731 132138

Noncurrent liabilities 3337406 634811 392457 632088
Net amount recognized 3337406 634811 466188 764226

Amounts recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive income loss consist of

Net loss gain 4650401 1288821 753386 660236

Prior service credit -- -- -- 7669
Transition obligation

-- -- 95500 167500

Net amount recognized 4650401 1288821 657886 500405

Weighted average assumptions used to deter

mine benefit obligations as of December 31

Discount rate 6.19% 6.41% 6.19% 5.59%

Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A

The measurement date used for all plans was December 31
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The Companys expected long-term rate of return on assets was 8.0% for both 2008 and 2007 In determining

the expected long-term rate of return the historical experience of the plan assets the current and expected

allocation of the plan assets and the expected long-term rates of return were considered

The Companys pension plan asset allocation as of the measurement date December 31 and the target

asset allocation ranges by asset category were as follows

Actual Allocation 2008 2007 Target

Asset Category ZsII 2007 Allocation Ranges

Equity securities 59.5% 59.6% 53 73%

Debt securities 33.7% 30.5% 21 41%

Money market funds 6.8% 9.9% 5%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

The weighted average annual assumed rate of increase in per capita health care costs is 9.O% for 2008 arid

is assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% by 2017 and remain at that level thereafter one-percentage point

change in the assumed health care cost trend rate for all years to and including the ultimate rate would have

the following effects

Effect on total service and interest cost

1% Increase 4958 5535

1% Decrease 4542 5128
Effect on accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation

1% Increase 26089 32924

1% Decrease 24072 30305

Net periodic benefit cost for 2008 2007 and 2006 included the following components

Pension_Benefits Post-retirement_Benefits

ID1 2007 2006 ZsI.I 2007 2006

Components of net periodic benefit cost

Service cost -- -- -- 46209 44535 56442

Interest cost 606508 564674 544410 60401 41974 53176

Expected return on plan assets 732954 638348 546362 -- -- --

Amortization of
prior

service cost credit -- -- -- 14457 14457 5225
Amortization of transition obligation -- -- -- 33700 33700 33700

Settlement -- -- -- 109014 -- --

Amortization of net gain loss 29509 90395 136815 108845 56930 89294

Netperiodicbenefitcost 96937 16721 $134863 $372626 77736 48799

Other changes in plan assets and

benefit obligations recognized in other

comprehensive income

Net loss gain $3391089 $663852 $476290 15695 92425 $71 4035
Amortization of net gain loss 29509 90395 136815 108845 56930 89294

Prior service credit -- -- -- 22126 48221 46658
Amortization of prior service credit -- -- -- 14457 14457 5225

Transition obligation -- -- -- 38300 -- 234900

Amortization of transition obligation
-- -- -- 33700 33700 33700

Total recognized in other comprehensive

income 3361580 754247 613105 157481 35431 464974

Total recognized in net periodic benefit

cost and other comprehensive income $3264643 $737526 $478242 $215145 42305 $416175

Weighted average assumptions used

to determine net periodic benefit cost

for years ended December 31

Discount rate 6.41% 5.72% 5.41% 5.59% 5.72% 5.41%

Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% -- -- --

2008 2007
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The Company expects to contribute approximately $174000 to the pension plan and approximately $74000
to the other benefit plans during 2009

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive
income expected to be recognized in net periodic

benefit cost in 2009

Amortization of net gain loss 301 942 64545

Amortization of transition obligation -- 24200

The following estimated future benefit payments are expected to be paid in the years indicated

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

2009 455000 74000

2010 472000 34000

2011 510000 44000

2012 557000 35000

2013 564000 28000

2014-2018 3481000 238000

The Company sponsors 401 defined contribution plan to provide eligible employees with additional

income upon retirement The Companys contributions to the plan are based on employee contributions The

Companys contributions totaled $4856709 in 2008 $4167248 in 2007 and $3150802 in 2006

The Company maintains supplemental executive retirement plan SERF for certain of its executive officers

The plan is non-qualified deferred compensation plan administered by the Board of Directors of the Company

pursuant to which the Company makes quarterly cash contributions of certain percentage of executive

officers annual compensation The SERF previously invested cash contributions in Company common stock

that it purchased on the open market however under plan amendment effective November 2004 the

participants may self-direct the investment of their apportioned plan assets Upon retirement executives may
receive their apportioned contributions of the plan assets in the form of cash

Assets of the supplemental executive retirement plan consist of the following

December 31 2008 December 31 2007

Cost Market Cost Market

Company stock 1966178 $2889670 1705249 $3195104

Equity securities 2575862 2229325 3011012 2946301

Total $4542040 $5118995 $4716261 $6141405

The Company periodically adjusts the deferred compensation liability such that the balance of the liability

equals the total fair market values of all assets held by the trust established under the SERF Such liabilities are

included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets The equity securities are included in investments

in the consolidated balance sheets and classified as trading equity securities See Note Investments The

Company stock held by the plan is carried at cost and included as reduction in shareholders equity in the

consolidated balance sheets

The change in the fair market value of Company stock held in the SERF results in charge or credit to selling

general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations because the acquisition cost

of the Company stock in the SERP is recorded as reduction of shareholders equity and is not adjusted to fair

market value however the related liability is adjusted to the fair market value of the stock as of each period

end The Company recognized credit of $502000 in 2008 and expense of $452000 and $325000 in 2007

and 2006 respectively related to the change in the fair value of the Company stock held in the SERP
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12 Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes income before income taxes and minority interest includes the following

components

2007 2006

United States 91681710 82367924 55925244

Foreign
6379755 6038458 4382708

Income before income taxes and minority interest 98061465 88406382 60307952

The provision for income taxes consists of the following

IIS1 2007 2006

Current provision

Federal 26802219 27131144 17509493

State 4419760 2935588 1846120

Foreign
992613 1231551 267683

Total current provision
32214592 31298283 19623296

Deferred provision

Federal 1820986 394900 534754

State 185177 65245 81619

Foreign
545811 429421 561310

Total deferred provision
2551974 99766 1014445

Total provision

Federal 28623205 26736244 18044247

State 4604937 3000833 1764501

Foreign
538424 1660972 828993

Total provision
34766566 31398049 20637741

2008

34321513

1081747
3004717

198495

1109551
276112
290749

30942234

932710
1950540

356637

1049782
60775

70355

21033019

621982

1146925

307814

367771

233431
626833

The Companys income tax provision is computed based on the federal statutory rates and the average state

statutory rates net of related federal benefit

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax

rate to income before income taxes reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the statutory federal

income tax rate to the amount provided is as follows

2007 2006

Tax at the statutory federal income tax rate

Qualified Production Activity Deduction

State income tax net of federal income tax

Other permanent differences

RD credit

Change in valuation allowance

Other items

Income tax provision
34766566 31398049 20637741
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes

Significant components of the Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows

December 31

2007

As of December 31 2008 the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately

$27300000 for tax purposes which will be available to offset future taxable income If not used these

carryforwards will expire between 2010 and 2022 The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets specifically

relates to the future utilization of state net operating loss carryforwards Future utilization of these net operating

loss carryforwards is evaluated by the Company on an annual basis and the valuation allowance is adjusted

accordingly In 2008 the valuation allowance was decreased by $276112 based upon the projected ability of

certain entities to utilize their state net operating loss carryforwards

Undistributed earnings of Astecs Canadian subsidiary Breaker Technology Ltd are considered to be

indefinitely reinvested accordingly no provision for U.S federal and state income taxes has been provided

thereon Upon repatriation of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise the Company would be

subject to both U.S income taxes subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits and withholding taxes

payable to Canada Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S income tax liability is not

practical due to the complexities associated with the hypothetical calculation however unrecognized foreign

tax credit carryforwards would be available to reduce some portion of the U.S liability Withholding taxes

would be payable upon remittance of previously unremitted earnings

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and in various state and foreign

jurisdictions The Company is no longer subject to U.S federal income tax examinations by authorities for

years prior to 2005 With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to state and local or non-U.S

income tax examinations by authorities for years prior to 2002

As result of the implementation of FIN 48 the Company recognized $65725 liability
for unrecognized tax

benefits which was accounted for as reduction to the January 2007 balance of retained earnings The

Company had liability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2007 of $1 872766 which

included accrued interest and penalties of $218505 At December 31 2008 the Company had
liability

for unrecognized tax benefits of $939217 which included accrued interest and penalties of $140025 The

Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense The

interest and penalties recognized in the Companys statement of operations was $124365 in 2007 In 2008
the Company recognized tax benefit for penalties and interest of $78480 related to amounts that were

settled for less than previously accrued The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized

would affect the effective rate is $718904 and $817641 at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

The Company does not expect significant increase or decrease to the total amount of unrecognized tax

benefits within the next 12 months reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits is

as follows

2008

Deferred tax assets

Inventory reserves 4925261 3840943

Warranty reserves 3345363 2516910
Bad debt reserves 392461 461652

State tax loss carryforwards 1126177 1471800

Other 5263102 4334092
Valuation allowance 841616 1117728

Total deferred tax assets 14210748 11507669

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment 14231539 9048440

Other 2343354 1956213

Total deferred tax liabilities 16574893 11 004653

Net deferred tax asset liability 2364145 503016
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Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1872766

Additions for tax positions related to the current year 422010

Additions for tax positions related to prior years
58748

Reductions due to lapse of statutes of limitations 142404

Decreases related to settlements with tax authorities .271 .903 _______________________

In the December 31 2008 balance of unrecognized tax benefits there are no tax positions for which the

ultimate deductibility is highly certain but the timing of such deductibility is uncertain Accordingly there is no

impact to the deferred tax accounting for certain tax benefits

13 Contingent Matters

Certain customers have financed purchases of Company products through arrangements in which the

Company is contingently liable for customer debt of approximately $241000 and $629000 at December

31 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company was also contingently liable for residual value guarantees

aggregating approximately $147000 at December 31 2007 At December 31 2008 the maximum potential

amount of future payments for which the Company would be liable is equal to $241000 Because the

Company does not believe it will be called on to fulfill any of these contingencies the carrying amounts on the

consolidated balance sheets of the Company for these contingent liabilities are zero

In addition the Company is contingently liable under letters of credit totaling approximately $10734000

including $2000000 letter of credit issued to the Companys South African subsidiary Osborn The

outstanding letters of credit expire at various dates through February 2010 Osborri is contingently liable for

total of $1 854000 in performance bonds None of Osborns performance bonds outstanding at December31

2008 were secured by the $2000000 letter of credit issued by the Company As of December 31 2008 the

maximum potential amount of future payments under these letters of credit and bonds for which the Company

could be liable is approximately $12588000

The Company is currently party to various claims and legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary

course of business If management believes that loss arising from such claims and legal proceedings is

probable and can reasonably be estimated the Company records the amount of the loss excluding estimated

legal fees or the minimum estimated liability
when the loss is estimated using range and no point within the

range is more probable than another As management becomes aware of additional information concerning

such contingencies any potential liability related to these matters is assessed and the estimates are revised

if necessary If management believes that loss arising from such claims and legal proceedings is either

probable but cannot be reasonably estimated or ii reasonably possible but not probable the Company

does not record the amount of the loss but does make specific disclosure of such matter Based upon currently

available information and with the advice of counsel management believes that the ultimate outcome of its

current claims and legal proceedings individually and in the aggregate will not have material adverse

effect on the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations However claims and legal

proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and rulings unfavorable to the Company could occur If an

unfavorable ruling were to occur there exists the possibility of material adverse effect on the Companys

financial position cash flows or results of operations

The Company has received notice that Johnson Crushers International Inc is subject to an enforcement

action brought by the U.S Environmental Protection Agency and the Oregon Department of Environmental

Quality related to an alleged failure to comply with federal and state air permitting regulations Each agency

is expected to seek sanctions that will include monetary penalties No penalty has yet been proposed The

Company believes that it has cured the alleged violations and is cooperating fully
with the regulatory agencies

At this stage of the investigations the Company is unable to predict the outcome and the amount of any such

sanctions

The Company has also received notice from the Environmental Protection Agency that it may be responsible

for portion of the costs incurred in connection with an environmental cleanup in Illinois The discharge of

hazardous materials and associated cleanup relate to activities occurring prior to the Companys acquisition

of Barber-Greene in 1986 The Company believes that over 300 other parties have received similar notice At

this time the Company cannot predict whether the EPA will seek to hold the Company liable for portion of

the cleanup costs or the amount of any such liability

2008

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 939217 1872766

2007

1191360

589976

192579

101149
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The Company has not recorded any liabilities with respect to either matter because no estimate of the amount

of any such liability can be made at this time

14 Shareholders Equity

Under terms of the Companys employees stock option plans officers and certain other employees have

been granted options to purchase the Companys common stock at no less than 100% of the market price on

the date the option was granted The Company has reserved unissued shares of common stock for exercise

of outstanding non-qualified options and incentive options of officers and employees of the Company and

its subsidiaries at prices determined by the Board of Directors In addition Non-employee Directors Stock

Incentive Plan has been established to allow non-employee directors to have personal financial stake in the

Company through an ownership interest Directors may elect to receive their annual retainer in cash common

stock deferred stock or stock options Options granted under the Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive

Plan vest and become fully exercisable immediately Generally other options granted vest over 12 months

All stock options have 10-year term The shares reserved under the 1998 Long-term Incentive Plan total

396324 and 161809 under the 1998 Non-employee Directors Stock Plan as of December 31 2008 The fair

value of stock awards granted to non-employee directors totaled $182000 $158000 and $175000 during

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

summary of the Companys stock option activity and related information for the year ended December 31

2008 follows

Weighted Average Remaining
Intrinsic Value

Options Exercise Price Contractual Life

Options outstanding at

December 31 2007 616990 22.45

Options exercised 204001 22.89

Options outstanding at

December 31 2008 412989 22.24 2.45 Years 3763000

Options exercisable at

December 31 2008 412989 22.24 2.45 Years 3763000

The weighted average grant-date fair value of 1686 options granted during the year ended December31 2006

was $16.61 No options were granted during 2008 or 2007 The total fair value of stock options that vested

during the year ended December 31 2006 was $2153000 No options vested during 2008 or 2007 The total

intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$1 696000 $13174000 and $8695000 respectively Cash received from options exercised during the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 totaled $4669000 $13632000 and $9970000 respectively

and is included in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows as financing activity The excess

tax benefit realized from the exercise of these options totaled $637000 $4389000 and $2955000 for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The stock option compensation expense

is included in selling general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of

operations As of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 there were no unrecognized compensation costs

related to stock options previously granted

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model with the following weighted average assumptions

Expected life

2006 Grants

Expected volatility

5.5 years

Risk-free interest rate

55.1

Dividend yield

4.53%

The expected life of stock options represents the period of time that the stock options granted are expected

to be outstanding and was based on the shortcut method allowed under SAB 107 for 2006 The expected

volatility
is based on the historical price volatility of the Companys common stock The risk-free interest rate

represents the U.S Treasury bill rate for the expected life of the related stock options No factor for dividend

yield was incorporated in the calculation of fair value as the Company has historically not paid dividends
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In August 2006 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors implemented five-year plan to

award key members of management restricted stock units ASUs each year The details of the plan were

formulated under the 2006 Incentive Plan approved by the Companys shareholders in their annual meeting
held in April 2006 The plan allows up to 700000 shares to be granted to employees RSUs granted each year
will be determined based upon the performance of individual subsidiaries and consolidated annual financial

performance Additional RSUs may be granted in 2011 based upon cumulative five-year performance

Generally each award will vest at the end of five years from the date of grant or at the time recipient retires

after reaching age 65 if earlier

RSUs granted in 2007 and 2008 and expected to be granted in 2009 for each prior years performance and

RSUs expected to be granted in 2011 for five-year cumulative performance are as follows

Actual or Anticipated Performance Fair Value
Original Forfeitures Vested Net

Grant Date Period Per IRSU

March2007 2006 71100 7179 600 63321 $38.76

February 2008 2007 74800 555 600 73645 38.52

February 2009 2008 69800 -- -- 69800 31.33

February 2011 2006-2010 92009 -- -- 92009 31.33

Total 307709 7734 1200 298775

Compensation expense of $2202000 $1 399000 and $41 9000 was recorded in the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively to reflect the fair value of the original RSUs granted or anticipated

to be granted less forfeitures amortized over the portion of the vesting period occurring during the period

Related income tax benefits of $782000 $497000 and $143000 were recorded in 2008 2007 and 2006
respectively The fair value of the 161809 RSUs expected to be granted in February 2009 and 2011 and

expensed in 2008 was based upon the market value of the related stock at December 31 2008 and will be

adjusted to the fair value as of each period end until the date of grant Based upon the fair value and net RSUs
shown above it is anticipated that $5679000 of additional compensation costs will be recognized in future

periods through 2016

Changes in restricted stock units during the year ended December 31 2008 are as follows

Unvested restricted stock units at January 2008

Restricted stock units granted

Restricted stock units forfeited

Restricted stock units vested

Unvested restricted stock units at December 31 2008 136966

The grant date fair value of the restricted stock units granted during 2008 and 2007 was $2881 296 and

$2755836 respectively The intrinsic value of the 1200 shares that vested during 2008 was $47604

The Company has adopted an Amended and Restated Shareholder Protection Rights Agreement and declared

distribution of one right the Right for each outstanding share of Company common stock par value

$0.20 per share the Common Stock Each Right entitles the registered holder other than the Acquiring
Person as defined below to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of share Unit of Series

Participating Preferred Stock par value $1.00 per share the Preferred Stock at purchase price of

$72.00 per Unit subject to adjustment The Rights currently attach to the certificates representing shares of

outstanding Company Common Stock and no separate Rights certificates will be distributed The Rights will

separate from the Common Stock upon the earlier of ten business days unless otherwise delayed by the

Board following the public announcement that person or group of affiliated or associated persons the

Acquiring Person has acquired obtained the right to acquire or otherwise obtained beneficial ownership

of fifteen percent 15% or more of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock or commencement of

tender offer or exchange offer that would result in an Acquiring Person beneficially owning fifteen percent

15% or more of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock The Board of Directors may terminate the

Rights without any payment to the holders thereof at any time prior to the close of business ten business days

following announcement by the Company that person has become an Acquiring Person Once the Rights

are separated from the Common Stock then the Rights entitle the holder other than the Acquiring Person to

purchase shares of Common Stock rather than Preferred Stock having current market value equal to twice

2008

64950

74800

1584
1200
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the Unit purchase price The Rights which do not have voting power and are not entitled to dividends expire

on December 22 2015 In the event of merger consolidation statutory share exchange or other transaction

in which shares of Common Stock are exchanged each Unit of Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive the

per share amount paid in respect of each share of Common Stock

15 Operations by Industry Segment and Geographic Area

The Company has four reportable operating segments These segments are combinations of business units

that offer different products and services The business units are each managed separately because they

manufacture and distribute distinct products that require different marketing strategies brief description of

each segment is as follows

Asphalt Group This segment consists of three operating units that design manufacture and market

complete line of portable stationary and relocatable hot-mix asphalt plants and related components and

variety of heaters heat transfer processing equipment and thermal fluid storage tanks The principal

purchasers of these products are asphalt producers highway and heavy equipment contractors and foreign

and domestic governmental agencies

Aggregate and Mining Group This segment consists of six operating units that design manufacture and

market complete line of rock crushers feeders conveyors screens and washing equipment The principal

purchasers of these products are open-mine and quarry operators

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group This segment consists of two operating units that design manufacture and

market asphalt payers asphalt material transfer vehicles milling machines and paver screeds The principal

purchasers of these products are highway and heavy equipment contractors and foreign and domestic

governmental agencies

Underground Group This segment consists of two operating units that design manufacture and market

auger boring machines directional drills fluid/mud systems chain and wheel trenching equipment rock saws

and road miners The principal purchasers of these products are pipeline and utility contractors and gas and

oil drillers

All Others This category consists of the Companys other business units including Peterson Pacific Corp
Astec Australia Pty Ltd Astec Insurance Company and the parent company Astec Industries Inc that do

not meet the requirements for separate disclosure as an operating segment

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations before

federal income taxes and corporate overhead The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the

same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies
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Intersegment sales and transfers are valued at prices comparable to those for unrelated parties For

management purposes the Company does not allocate federal income taxes or corporate overhead including

interest expense to its business units

Segment information for 2008

Aggregate Mobile

Asphalt and Mining Asphalt Paving Underground All

Group Group Group Group Others Total

Revenues from

external customers $257336421 $350350377 $150691545 $135152338 $80169510 $973700191

Intersegment revenues 24071770 26970745 4931081 3755602 -- 59729198

Interestexpense 173512 167099 383235 500 126750 851096

Depreciation and

amortization 4116394 6064911 2633667 2726316 1801600 17342888

Segment profit loss 40765363 37031600 15087032 12510606 41153408 64241193

Segment assets 302007759 314365480 109113262 109382786 304661454 1139530741

Capital expenditures 4096636 15280306 4282571 6493773 9779161 39932447

Segment information for 2007

Aggregate Mobile

Asphalt and Mining Asphalt Paving Underground All

Group Group Group Group Others Total

Revenues from

external customers $240229156 $338183219 $146488680 $114377657 29746642 869025354

lntersegment revenues 12882783 15437948 5613527 11720989 -- 45655247

Interest expense 11710 213931 11432 894 615027 852994

Depreciation and

amortization 3757204 5310658 2147476 2832824 1032791 15080953

Segment profit loss 37707111 38892362 17885115 7348141 45042148 56790581

Segment assets 264179910 299896625 152947368 87556087 306818074 1111398064

Capital expenditures 7361126 13539548 4335580 3912318 9302808 38451380

Segment information for 2006

Aggregate Mobile

Asphalt and Mining Asphalt Paving Underground All

Group Group Group Group Others Total

Revenues from

external customers $186656861 $289470523 $129385414 $105094015 -- $710606813

Intersegment revenues 9069815 13626818 3864530 2925366 -- 29486529

Interest expense 5060 188224 3639 9190 1465739 1671852

Depreciation and

amortization 3487982 3834284 1684789 2500605 383431 11891091

Segment profit loss 24386850 33263355 14368409 4866484 36439102 40445996

Segment assets 215265761 256142482 131879605 69521666 233291974 906101488

Capital expenditures 4792573 15343183 7588091 1719057 1436210 30879114
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Sales

Total external sales for reportable segments

Intersegment sales for reportable segments

Other sales

Elimination of intersegment sales

2008 2007 2006

710606813

29486529

29486529

893530681

59729198

80169510

59729198

839278712

45655247

29746642

45655247

Total consolidated sales 973700191 869025354 710606813

Net Income

Total
profit

for reportable segments 105394601 101832729 76885098

Other loss 41153408 45042148 36439102

Minority interest in earnings of subsidiary 166669 211225 82368

Elimination recapture of intersegment profit 946294 217752 775785

Total consolidated net income 63128230 56797108 39587843

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments 834869287 804579990 672809514

Other assets 304661454 306818074 233291974

Elimination of intercompany profit
in inventory 1885560 939266 1157018

Elimination of intercompany receivables 324860356 369361503 310941290

Elimination of investment in subsidiaries 119562447 122612801 101255392

Other eliminations 80409922 75914977 70885253

Total consolidated assets 612812456 542569517 421862535

Interest expense

Total interest expense for reportable segments 724346 237967 206113

Other interest expense 126750 615027 1465739

Total consolidated interest expense 851096 852994 1671852

Depreciation and amortization

Total depreciation and amortization for reportable segments 15541288 14048162 11507660

Other depreciation and amortization 1801600 1032791 383431

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization 17342888 15080953 11891091

Capital expenditures

Total capital expenditures for reportable segments 30153286 29148572 29442904

Other capital expenditures 9779161 9302808 1436210

Total consolidated capital expenditures 39932447 38451380 30879114
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Sales by major geographic region were as follows

2008 2007 2006

United States

16 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss

$620987337 590689756 $518455721

2008

The balance of related after-tax components comprising accumulated other comprehensive ncome loss

summarized below

2008

December 31

ZIl 2007

Foreign currency translation adjustment 310569 6602314

Unrealized loss on available for sale investment securities net of tax -- 924646

Unrecognized pension and post retirement benefit cost net of tax 2488067 491623

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 2798636 5186045

17 Other Income Expense Net

Other income expense net consist of the following

2007 2006

Loss on foreign currency transactions 547331 601814 167478

Gain on sale of investments 5907620 -- --

Other 348786 399551 334635

Total 5709075 202263 167157

Asia 33203197 11191188 7867141

Southeast Asia 11711595 8433668 6660597

Europe 39182153 36475730 36128754

South America 36492133 23335858 13670468

Canada 77226493 55758257 41527458

Australia 26058737 38566656 10891367

Africa 63314725 45500703 38059309

Central America 26663931 14237170 13721178

Middle East 28842208 24671411 18251651

West Indies 4778771 8780295 2442514

Other 5238911 11384662 2930655

Total foreign 352712854 278335598 192151092

Total 973700191 869025354 710606813

Long-lived assets by major geographic region were as follows

December 31

2007

United States 162879418 136191972

Canada 3242843 3985596

Africa 5351435 3570325

Australia 426648 --

Total foreign
9020926 7555921

Total 171900344 143747893
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18 Business Combinations

On July 31 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Peterson Inc an Oregon

company Peterson for approximately $21098000 including cash acquired of approximately $1702000

plus transaction costs of approximately $252000 In addition to the purchase price paid to the sellers the

Company also paid off approximately $7500000 of outstanding Peterson debt coincident with the purchase

The effective date of the purchase was July 2007 and the results of Petersons operations have been

included in the consolidated financial statements since that date The transaction resulted in the recognition

of approximately $3352000 of property plant and equipment approximately $5807000 of goodwill and

approximately $4278000 of intangible assets Intangible assets consist of patents seven-year weighted

average useful life customer relationships 15-year weighted average useful life non-compete agreement

four-year weighted average useful life and tradename indefinite useful life Petersons intangible assets

subject to amortization in total have 13-year weighted average useful life During June 2008 the purchase

price allocation was finalized and funds previously held in escrow have been distributed No significant

adjustments to amounts previously recorded were made as result of the final accounting

Peterson is manufacturer of whole-tree pulpwood chippers horizontal grinders and blower trucks Founded

in 1961 as Wilbur Peterson Sons heavy construction company Peterson expanded into manufacturing in

1982 to develop equipment to suit their land clearing and construction needs Peterson will continue to operate

from its Eugene Oregon headquarters under the name Peterson Pacific Corp

No conditional earn-out payments are due to the sellers based upon 2008 operational results However

conditional earn-out payments of up to $3000000 may be due to the sellers based upon cumulative 2008

and 2009 results of operations The Company was granted the option to purchase the real estate and

improvements used by Peterson from Petersons former majority owner and his wife at later date The

Company exercised this option and purchased the real estate and improvements for $7000000 in October

2008

On October 2008 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Dillman Equipment Inc

Wisconsin corporation Dillman and Double Investments Inc Wisconsin corporation which owned

the real estate and improvements used by Dillman for approximately $20384000 including cash acquired of

approximately $4066000 plus transaction costs of approximately $175000 In addition to the purchase price

paid to the sellers the Company also paid off approximately $912000 of outstanding debt coincident with the

purchase The transaction resulted in the recognition of approximately $6165000 of property plant and

equipment approximately $4804000 of goodwill and approximately $1139000 of intangible assets Intangible

assets consist of patents 12-year weighted average useful life customer relationships 14-year weighted

average useful life and tradename indefinite useful life Dillmans intangible assets subject to amortization

in total have 13-year weighted average useful life $1 000000 of the purchase price is being held in escrow

pending the resolution of certain contingent matters The effective date of the purchase was October 2008

and the results of Dillmans operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that

date Subsequent to the closing the two acquired corporations were merged into Astec Inc subsidiary of

Astec Industries Inc and Dillman will operate as division of Astec Inc from its current location in Prairie du

Chien Wisconsin The purchase price allocation is preliminary pending the finalization of certain valuations

and will be finalized no later than September 30 2009

Dillman was incorporated in 1994 and is manufacturer of asphalt plant equipment Dillman supplies the

asphalt industry with asphalt plant equipment that includes asphalt storage silos counterflow drum plants

cold feed systems recycle systems baghouses dust silos air pollution control systems portable asphalt

plants drag slats transfer conveyors plant controls control houses silos asphalt storage tanks parts and

field services

On October 2008 the Company purchased substantially all the assets and assumed certain liabilities of

0-Pave Pty Ltd an Australia company 0-Pave for approximately $1 797000 At the time of the purchase

0-Pave had payables to other Astec Industries subsidiaries totaling $1 589000 which was component of

the purchase price The transaction resulted in the recognition of approximately $273000 of intangible assets

which consist of dealer network and customer relationships 15-year weighted average useful life The assets

and liabilities are held in newly-formed subsidiary of the Company Astec Australia Pty Ltd The effective

date of the purchase was October 2008 and the results of Astec Australia Pty Ltds operations have been

included in the consolidated financial statements since that date The purchase price allocation is preliminary

pending the finalization of certain valuations and will be finalized no later than September 30 2009
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Astec Australia Pty Ltd is the Australian and New Zealand distributor for the range of equipment manufactured

by Astec Industries Inc

The revenues and pre-tax income of Dillman and 0-Pave were not significant in relation to the Companys 2008

financial statements and would not have been significant on proforma basis to any earlier periods Similarly the

revenue and pre-tax income of Peterson was not significant in relation to the Companys 2007 financial statements

and would not have been significant on proforma basis to any earlier periods
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Comparison of Year Cumulative Total Return

-Astec Industries Inc

NYSE/AMEXJNASDAQ Stock

Market US Companies

.ŁNYSE/AMEXINASDAQ Stocks SIC
3530-3539 US Comp Construction

Mining and Materials Handling

Machinery and Equipment

Data complete through last fiscal year

Corporate Performance Graph with peer group uses peer group only performance excludes

only company
Peer group indices use beginning of period market capitalization weighting

Calculated or Derived based from CRSP NYSE/AMEX/NASDAQ Stock Market US Companies

Center for Research in Security Prices CRSP Graduate School of Business The University

of Chicago

Assumes Initial Investment of $100

Performance Graph for Astec Industries Inc
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0.00
12/31/2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2005 12/29/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008

100.00 139.92 265.55 285.35 302.31 254.69

100.00 112.29 119.19 138.24 145.43 87.10

100.00 125.30 163.85 196.22 275.92 120.41

Notes
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2008 Board of Directors

Don Brock PhD COMMITTEES

Chairman of the Board President and

Chief Executive Officer of Astec Industries Inc Executive Committee

Don Brock PhD

Phillip Casey Daniel Frierson

Director and Non-executive Chairman of the Norman Smith

Board of Gerdau Ameristeel

Nominating Committee

Daniel Frierson Daniel Frierson

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer Ronald Green

of the Dixie Group Inc Glen Tellock

William GehI Audit Committee

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Phillip Casey

Officer of the GehI Company William Gehl

William Sansom

Ronald Green Glen Tellock

Chairman of ADVATECH LLC Thomas Hill

Thomas Hill Compensation Committee

Former Chief Executive Officer of William GehI

Oldcastle Inc Phillip Casey

Ronald Green

William Sansom William Sansom

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Thomas Hill

H.T Hackney Co

Norman Smith

Group Vice President of Asphalt

Astec Industries Inc

Robert Stafford

Former Corporate Vice President of

Research and Development

and Group Vice President of Aggregate and Mining

Astec Industries Inc

Glen Tellock

Chairman President and Chief Executive

Officer of The Manitowoc Company Inc
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Don Brock PhD David Silvious CPA
Richard Patek

Chairman of the Board Corporate Controller
Group Vice President

President and CEO
Thomas Campbell Aggregate and Mining Group

McKamy Hall CPA Group Vice President

Vice President Mobile Asphalt Paving Joseph Vig

CFO and Treasurer and Underground Groups Group Vice President

Stephen Anderson Norman Smith AggReCon Group

Corporate Secretary Group Vice President

Director of Investor Relations Asphalt Group

SUBSIDIARY OFFICERS

Michael Bremmer Richard Dorris James Pfeiffer

President President President

CEI Enterprises Inc Heatec Inc American Augers Inc

Benjamin Brock
Jeffery Elliott Jeffrey Richmond

President President President

Astec Inc Johnson Crushers Roadtec Inc

Frank Cargould International Inc
David Smale

President Timothy Gonigam General Manager
Breaker Technology Ltd President Astec Australia Pty Ltd

Breaker Technology Inc Astec Mobile Screens Inc
Joseph Vig

Joe Cline Tom Kruger President

President Managing Director Kolberg-Pioneer Inc

Astec Underground Osborn Engineered David Winters

Larry Cumming Products SA Pty Ltd
President

President Richard Patek Carlson Paving Products Inc

Peterson Pacific Corp President

Telsmith Inc

OTHER INFORMATION

Transfer Agent BNY Mellon Investor Services LLC

490 Washington Blvd Jersey City NJ 07310

800.61 7.6437 www.bnymeIlon.com/shareowner/isd

Stock Exchange NASDAQ National Market ASTE

Auditors Ernst and Young LLP Chattanooga TN

General Counsel Chambliss Bahner Stophel P.C Chattanooga TN

and Litigation

Securities Counsel Alston Bird LLP Atlanta GA

Investor Relations Stephen Anderson Director 423.553.5934

Corporate Office Astec Industries Inc 1725 Shepherd Road Chattanooga TN 37421

Ph 423.899.5898 Fax 423.899.4456 www.astecindustries.com

The form 0-K as filled with the Securities and Exchange Commission may be obtained at no cost by any shareholder

upon written request to Astec Industries Inc Attention Investor Relations

The Annual Meeting will be held on April 23 2009 at 000 A.M EST in the Training Center at Astec Inc located at

4101 Jerome Avenue Chattanooga TN 37407
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